Public Document Pack
Mark Saccoccio
Town Clerk
01525 631920
info@leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk
www.leightonlinslade-tc.gov.uk

27 April 2021
To: The Town Mayor and all Members of Leighton-Linslade Town Council

NOTICE OF MEETING
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of Leighton-Linslade Town Council to
be held on Tuesday, 4 May 2021 commencing at 7.30 pm. This will be a remote
meeting held via Microsoft Teams in accordance with The Local Authorities and Crime
Panels (Coronavirus)(Flexibility of Meetings)(England and Wales) Regulations 2020.
https://tinyurl.com/2cjtjtfc or by tel: +44 20 3795 5672 (Conf. ID: 412 994 712#)

M Saccoccio
Town Clerk
Prayers will be said at 1920 hours

AGENDA
1.

ELECTION OF CHAIR (TOWN MAYOR) (Pages 1 - 6)
To elect a Town Mayor for the ensuing year (Protocol for Mayor attached).

2.

DECLARATION OF ACCEPTANCE OF OFFICE (Pages 7 - 8)
The newly elected Town Mayor will make the Declaration of Acceptance of
Office (attached).

3.

TOWN MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

4.

ELECTION OF VICE CHAIR (DEPUTY TOWN MAYOR)
To elect a Deputy Town Mayor for the ensuing year (Protocol attached).

5.

DECLARATION OF ACCEPTANCE OF OFFICE (Pages 9 - 10)
The newly elected Deputy Town Mayor will make the Declaration of

This will be a remote meeting held via Microsoft Teams in accordance with The Local Authorities
and Crime Panels (Coronavirus)(Flexibility of Meetings)(England and Wales) Regulations 2020

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL

Tuesday, 4 May 2021

Acceptance of Office (attached).

6.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Schedule 12 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires a record be kept of the
Members present and that this record form part of the minutes of the meeting.
Members who cannot attend a meeting should tender apologies to the Town
Clerk.

7.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
(i) Under the Localism Act 2011 (sections 26-37 and Schedule 4) and in
accordance with the Council’s Code of Conduct, Members are required to
declare any interests which are not currently entered in the Member’s
Register of Interests or if he/she has not notified the Monitoring Officer of it.
(ii) Should any Member have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in an item on
the agenda, the Member may not participate in consideration of that item
unless a Dispensation has first been requested (in writing) and granted by
the Council (see Dispensation Procedure).

8.

LEADER OF THE COUNCIL (Pages 11 - 14)
To elect a Councillor to be Leader of the Council (Protocol for Leader is
attached).

9.

GROUP LEADERS
To announce the Leaders and Deputy Leaders of the political groups
represented on the Council.

10.

GROUP LEADERS' ANNOUNCEMENTS

11.

QUESTIONS
(a) To receive questions and statements from members of the public as
provided for in Standing Order Nos.3 (f) and 3 (g)
(b) To receive questions from Councillors as provided for in Standing Order
No.27, provided three clear days’ notice of the question has been given to
the person to whom it is addressed.

12.

COMMITTEE STRUCTURE, TERMS OF REFERENCE AND SCHEME OF
DELEGATION (Pages 15 - 24)
(a)

To agree the main Committee structure for the ensuing year (existing

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL

Tuesday, 4 May 2021

structure attached).
(b) To continue with existing memberships and Chairmanships to committees
and sub-committees, plus existing appointments to outside bodies, until the
next Council meeting (following the by-election in St. George’s ward).
(c) To agree the Terms of Reference for each standing Committee (current
Terms of Reference attached).
Notes: at the first meeting of each main Committee, the Terms of Reference for
Sub-Committees will be considered.
(d) To agree the Scheme of Delegation (current Scheme attached).
(to be updated if proposed amendments to Standing Orders, which include
delegated authority, are approved)
13.

PARTNERSHIP COMMITTEE
To appoint five Town Councillors to join the Partnership Committee for the
ensuing year. Five Councillors will also be appointed by Central Bedfordshire
Council to the Committee.
(Note: the committee Chair will be elected at the first meeting of the Committee
in 2021-22)

14.

TOWN COUNCIL STANDING ORDERS (Pages 25 - 52)
As proposed and seconded at Council on 26 April 2021, to consider adopting
proposed amendments to Town Council Standing Orders (proposed
amendments shown in blue type and highlighted in the attached document).

15.

SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE POLICY (Pages 53 70)
At its meeting held 29 March 2021, the Policy and Finance Committee agreed a
number of policy reviews. Council is asked to consider the revised
Safeguarding Children and Young People Policy (attached with supporting
documentation).

16.

17.

GRANTS 2021-2022 (Pages 71 - 134)
(a)

To consider applications for General Grants of up to £500 as per the
attached summary. Available budget is £10,000. General grant
guidelines are attached.

(b)

To approve the release of 2021-22 Guaranteed Grant funding to
recipients. A reminder of the Guaranteed Grants approved in 2020 is
attached along with reports on use of funding in 2021-21 (attached).

WELCOME BACK FUND (Pages 135 - 140)

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL

18.

Tuesday, 4 May 2021

(a)

To receive correspondence from Central Bedfordshire Council in respect
of the Government’s Welcome Back fund (attached).

(b)

To agree that an informal Councillor workshop be held on Monday, 10
May at 7:30pm to discuss potential use of funding.

(c)

To agree that formal ratification of discussion on 10 May take place by
one of the following mechanisms in order that ideas may be submitted to
Central Bedfordshire Council before the deadline date of 28 May 2021:
either that an extraordinary one-item Council meeting takes place on
Monday, 17 May 2021 or
if this is not possible, that ratification take place by delegation to the
Proper Officer with email approval by Councillors as per the decision
making procedure endorsed by Council on 20 March 2020.

FINANCIAL BANKING ARRANGEMENTS (Pages 141 - 142)
To receive a report regarding the precept and banking arrangements
(attached) and to consider the recommendation/s contained therein.

19.

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC
The Council may consider it appropriate to consider the following resolution
should they consider that any discussion would be prejudicial to the public
interests: that, under the Public Bodies (Admissions to Meetings) Act
1960, the public be excluded on the grounds of the confidential nature of
the business about to be transacted which involves the likely disclosure
of exempt information. The public and press to withdraw from the
meeting during consideration of detailed discussion regarding:
Community Action Bedfordshire and Appointment of a Planning
Consultant.

20.

COMMUNITY ACTION BEDFORDSHIRE (Pages 143 - 146)
To receive information (attached) and consider Guaranteed Grant funding in
respect of Community Action Bedfordshire.

21.

APPOINTMENT OF PLANNING CONSULTANT
Further to consideration of expressions of interest by the Policy and Finance
Committee on 19 April 2021, to consider appointing a planning consultant.

Agenda Item 1

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL
TOWN MAYOR AND DEPUTY MAYOR PROTOCOL
The Mayoralty is a position which gives the opportunity to promote and uphold
the special character of Leighton-Linslade. The following points are laid down
and should be read in conjunction with the agreed Councillor and Officer
Protocol and Town Council Standing Orders.
The role and duties of the Town Mayor
1

The Town Mayor and Deputy Mayor are elected Members of the Council
and legally are Town Councillors bound by any national legislation
enacted from time and time and any related local code.

2

The Mayor and Deputy Mayor have no additional powers, unless
specified in statute, other than those attributed to being a Town
Councillor.

3

The Mayor, once elected at the Annual General Meeting of the Town
Council, should normally hold Office until the Annual General Meeting
the following year.

4

The Mayor will preside over Full Council Meetings, dates for which will
be set out in the Town Council Calendar of Meetings

5

The Mayor will meet with the Town Clerk prior to Full Council meetings
to discuss the Agenda and Mayor’s Announcements.

6

The Mayor should observe the strictest neutrality and impartiality at all
times when carrying out Mayoral and/or civic duties. This is particularly
important during debate at Full Council, although he/she is entitled to
use an original vote when available and is required to make a casting
vote when necessary, in any manner he/she may choose.

7

The Mayor may designate a Mayoress or Consort as appropriate.

8

The Mayor may choose to support a named charity (or charities)
throughout his/her year of office.

9

The Mayor will be known as either “Mr Mayor” or “Madam Mayor” and
have their name preceded by the word “Councillor”.

10

The Mayor shall be known as the Town Mayor of Leighton-Linslade and
regarded as the first citizen of the Town.

Page 1

11

The Mayor will preside at the Parish Meeting (in accordance with the
legislation).

ENGAGEMENTS
12

The Mayor receives invitations to engagements throughout the year and
attends these wearing the Chain of Office, if appropriate.

13

All engagements should be co-ordinated through the Office and will be
dealt with by the Mayor’s Secretary.

14

The Mayor’s Secretary is not responsible for, nor should respond to, any
correspondence of a personal nature or to that relating to “Ward”
business.

15

The Mayor may on occasions receive Mayoral mail or e-mail at his/her
own home. If this should happen, it is to be forwarded to the Mayor’s
Secretary for response.

16

The Mayor’s Secretary will keep the Mayor’s Diary of official
engagements and keep the Mayor updated with new events.

17

The Mayor’s Secretary will keep a list of all official engagements and
notify the Mayor accordingly (i.e. weekly). These will be reported on a
weekly basis in the Members’ Newsletter.

18

The Mayor or Deputy Mayor will arrange a mutually convenient time to
meet with the Mayor’s Secretary (and Line Manager, if deemed
appropriate) on a regular basis to discuss engagements.

19

As required by the Mayor, the Mayor’s secretary will write personal notes
of thanks for those engagements he/she has attended. This mail will be
posted from the Office at the cost of the Town Council.

20

The Mayor or Deputy Mayor should not normally accept engagements
outside of the county of Bedfordshire unless they are of a civic nature or
from another civic body. The Town Clerk should be consulted in cases
of doubt.

21

If the Mayor and Deputy Mayor are present at a non-Town Council event,
the Mayor takes precedence and shall wear his/her Chain of Office. In
this case, the Deputy Mayor shall not wear his/her Badge/Chain of
Office. At Town Council events e.g. Civic Service, Mayor’s fund-raising
events, Remembrance Service, the Deputy Mayor may wear his/her
Chain of Office.

22

The Mayor or Deputy Mayor may not wear his/her Chain of Office at an
engagement outside of Leighton-Linslade without the express
permission of the Chair of that Parish, Town, District or Unitary area
(such permission to be sought by the Mayor’s Secretary).

23

If the Mayor is unable to accept an invitation, the Deputy Mayor shall be
invited to attend (unless it is clearly inappropriate from the invitation). If

Page 2

the Deputy Mayor is also unable to attend, the Mayor’s Secretary should
consult the inviting organisation, to ask if they would wish another
Councillor to attend.
CIVIC
24

The Mayor should only wear his/her Chain of Office when undertaking
official duties as Mayor.

25

The Mayoress/Mayor’s Consort may only wear his/her Badge of Office
while accompanying the Mayor or attending an event in his/her own right.

26

The Deputy Mayor may only wear his/her Chain of Office in the absence
of the Mayor when deputising for him/her at an official engagement, or
at Parish events as detailed in 21 above.

27

Attendance by the Town Mayor’s Secretary at Mayoral and civic events
is expected where possible and practicable. Where such events take
place outside the postholder’s normal working hours, reimbursement by
way of overtime or time off in lieu will be by agreement of the Town Clerk.

28

The Lord Lieutenant or Deputy Lieutenant, when attending a function or
event in an official capacity representing the Crown, takes precedence
over the Mayor.

29

The Mayor shall have use of the Council Chamber and Meeting Room,
if available, following prior arrangement with the General Office.

30

Access to the Council Chamber and Meeting Room, out of office hours,
should be avoided if possible, but if unavoidable must be pre booked
with the General Office. Such access will be subject to the availability of
an officer, on a voluntary basis, to open and close the building.

31

The Mayor may use the Council Chamber and Meeting Room to host
meetings with organisations of the Town or meet with the Mayor’s
Secretary to discuss engagements and events.

32

The Town Council shall be responsible for the insurance of the Council’s
civic regalia. However, it is the responsibility of the Mayor and Deputy
Mayor to ensure that they comply with home/car security and other
requirements set out within the Town Council’s insurance policy from
time to time.

33

The Mayor shall receive an annual mayoral allowance as specified in
the budget for the year. The Mayor is advised to operate a separate
personal account for this allowance and to keep a record of all
expenditure for tax purposes.

34

The Mayor, on taking office, shall receive a copy of this Protocol and
other relevant documents.

Page 3

35

The Town Council will meet the cost of various administrative Mayoral
expenses, as determined by the Policy and Finance Committee, being
in accordance with the Council’s approved budget. 1

GENERAL
36

The Mayor will present certificates to Honorary Burgess recipients, if
applicable.

37

The Mayor may receive gifts occasionally during his/her term of office.
These gifts may be of a personal nature in which case they may be
retained by the Mayor (and need to be declared in accordance with the
Code of Conduct), but others that are obviously for the Town must be
handed to the Town Clerk.

38

All guests visiting the White House must be invited to sign the Visitors
Book and advised that only limited car parking spaces are available.

39

The Mayor and Deputy Mayor should inform the Mayor’s Secretary, as
early as possible, of any dates when they are not free to undertake
engagements.

40

The Mayor’s Secretary should be informed of any special circumstances
that may affect the Mayor’s attendance or enjoyment of an engagement
e.g. allergies, dietary requirements, disability restrictions.

41

Matters regarding protocol or of a general concern to the Mayor can be
discussed, in the first instance, with the Mayor’s Secretary or the Town
Clerk

42

The Mayor will operate an account for the use of the Mayor’s Charities.
The signatories of the account will be the Mayor and the Town Clerk who
will co-operate in any handover to any successor(s).

43

If any need to interpret this Protocol arises, it should be referred to the
Town Clerk for a ruling in the first instance and afterwards to the
relevant Committee.

FUNDRAISING EVENTS
44

As agreed by the Policy and Finance Committee in November 2014,
the Mayor shall be entitled to three free uses of Town Council owned
buildings/facilities during each municipal year, for the purposes of
holding charity fundraising events. This applies only to hire of the
facility; normal charges would apply for other services such as catering,
bar, etc.

45

To avoid the loss of income opportunity, the Mayor shall confirm the
date of such uses no later than 30 June each year.

1

To be produced and agreed.

Page 4

46

Should an occasion arise when payment for hire still applies, the
charges will be at the lower community group rate, where applicable.

47

The Mayor will liaise with the Town Mayor’s Secretary to develop a
plan of charity fundraising events for the year, as early as possible
during his/her term of office. This allows sufficient time for booking of
venues or suppliers, as well as the development of suitable marketing
material.

48

The number of charity fundraising events held each municipal year will
vary depending on the availability of each Mayor. However, it is
broadly anticipated that no less than six and no more than twelve (one
per calendar month) events will be hosted by the Mayor during the
year.

49

Where there is insufficient budget for marketing of Mayoral fundraising
events, the expectation is that, should external services be required for
marketing purposes (e.g. the production of a banner), that these costs
will be met from the income generated from the event or from the
Mayoral allowance.

Approved by the Policy & Finance Committee 16.01.2017
Amendment to Point 49 endorsed by Council 30.01.2017

5 of 5

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6

Agenda Item 2

DECLARATION OF ACCEPTANCE OF OFFICE
I, ____________________________________, having been elected
to the office of Town Mayor of Leighton-Linslade Town Council
declare that I take that office upon myself, and will duly and
faithfully fulfil the duties of it according to the best of my judgement
and ability.
I undertake to observe the Code of Conduct which is expected of all
members of Leighton-Linslade Town Council.

Signed : ___________________________________
Date: _____________________________________
This declaration was made and signed before me.
Signed : ___________________________________
Mark Saccoccio
Proper Officer of the Council

Page 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8

Agenda Item 5

DECLARATION OF ACCEPTANCE OF OFFICE
I, ____________________________________, having been elected
to the office of Deputy Town Mayor of Leighton-Linslade Town
Council declare that I take that office upon myself, and will duly and
faithfully fulfil the duties of it according to the best of my judgement
and ability.
I undertake to observe the Code of Conduct which is expected of all
members of Leighton-Linslade Town Council.

Signed : ___________________________________
Date: _____________________________________
This declaration was made and signed before me.
Signed : ___________________________________
Mark Saccoccio
Proper Officer of the Council

Page 9

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10

Agenda Item 8

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL
LEADER of the COUNCIL OVERVIEW

Leader of the Council
1

The Annual Council Meeting shall elect a Councillor as Leader of the
Council in accordance with Standing Orders. Council may, at the
same time, elect a Deputy Leader.

2

The Leader of the Council may be replaced at any meeting of Full
Council. Motion to replace the Leader must be notified in the
Agenda.

3

The Leader of the Council will usually be the Leader of the largest
group of Councillors.

4

The Leader is the most senior Councillor of the Council politically.
S/he will lead the decision making process at Councillor level and
liaise with the Town Clerk on those issues, forward plans and
matters of policy or strategic direction. The Leader has no legal
status or civic and ceremonial responsibilities.

5

The Town Clerk may use the Leader as a “sounding board” in
advance of formal consideration of any matter to assist in gauging
likely Councillor reaction to a proposal.

LEADER PROTOCOL
Introduction
This protocol aims to ensure that the Leader and the Town Clerk are guided
by a set of ground-rules designed to maintain high standards of public
accountability, mutual respect and an understanding of the Council's decisionmaking structures. If a Deputy Leader has been elected, this protocol shall
also apply when the Deputy is acting in place of the Leader.
1.

General Principles

1.1

In accordance with the statutory Code of Conduct, the Leader must not
use Council resources for party political purposes. The Leader must
uphold the political impartiality of the Town Clerk, and not ask the Town
Clerk to act in any way which would conflict with the Council’s Officer
Code of Conduct, local Protocol on Member/Officer relationships, or
national Conditions of Service.

Page 11

[Type here]

1.2

The Leader does not have line management responsibilities for the
Town Clerk, and should not issue management instructions to the
Town Clerk.

1.3

Where a decision is required following discussion between the Leader
and the Town Clerk, the matter will be submitted to Council or a
Committee for consideration, unless the matter is already delegated to
the Town Clerk in consultation with the Leader.

1.4

Matters wholly within the responsibility of the Town Clerk, or which
have been delegated
to the Town Clerk without consultation
requirements, may still be discussed between the Leader and the Town
Clerk.

1.5

In undertaking their roles, the Leader and Town Clerk should respect
the following principles :
Principle 1 As a 'visible' and accountable elected representative, with
defined responsibilities, the Leader will need to be properly briefed on
all significant aspects of the work of the Council. The Town Clerk
should ensure a proper information flow so as to ensure that the
Leader can effectively “lead”.
Principle 2 Good communications can best be achieved through
planned and programmed meetings and briefing arrangements. On the
basis that the Town Clerk should be ensuring that the information
needs of the Leader are met. The Leader should, in turn, seek to avoid
making requests for unanticipated briefings.
Principle 3 The Leader (and all Councillors) should channel
significant requests for information, advice, and other support via the
Town Clerk (or in his/her absence, the Deputy Town Clerk - in which
case the Town Clerk will be copied into any requests). Other
arrangements may apply as agreed and established between the
Leader and the Town Clerk. The Leader should not approach other
staff directly with requests for information (except in cases of urgency
or unavailability of the Town Clerk and his/her Deputy) or seek to
commission work from individual staff, as this may confuse day-to-day
line management accountabilities.
Principle 4 The Leader may work with the Town Cerk and the other
senior managers in the development of policies and programmes.
Principle 5 All Councillors have collective responsibility to the
Council for the conduct of employment policy, and the Council acts as
the employing body for all Council staff. Employment policies, having
been set by the Council, are implemented via the Town Clerk.
Principle 6 Before carrying out a staff appraisal, the Town Clerk
should seek the views of The Leader and other Councillors, as

S://Council 2007 Onwards/Administration/Policies and Procedure Documents/Policy Documents/Protocol for Leader
Revised April 2011

Page 12

[Type here]

appropriate, to help inform the appraisal process about the staff
member’s performance from the Councillors’ perspective. After an
appraisal, the Town Clerk should advise the Leader of any issues
relevant to Councillors.
Principle 7 In relation to the Town Clerk, the Leader should provide
regular advice and guidance as to the Town Clerk’s performance
against any objectives and outcomes for the Post Holder, as
determined by Council. If there are any performance, capability or
disciplinary issues concerning the Town Clerk, the Leader may submit
a report to Council in line with Principle 9 below.
Principle 8 When a report to Committee or Council is being
prepared, the Leader is entitled to discuss issues with the Town Clerk
and with other officers concerning the content of such reports and the
framing of recommendations. Whilst the Leader may wish to make
suggestions on content and drafting, to achieve clarity of presentation,
simplify jargon, or better explain issues, the Leader should not attempt
to edit out or override any content of reports which the Town Clerk or
other officer feels it is important to put before the Council.
Principle 9 When the Leader (and all Councillors) wish to put forward
proposals of their own, it is the responsibility of the Councillor (via the
Town Clerk) to produce a report to the relevant Committee for
consideration. The Town Clerk may wish, and has a right, to add
comments to such reports.
Principle 10 The Town Clerk, managers and other officers exercise
statutory functions and have individual responsibilities. The Leader
should understand and respect these roles.
2

The Leader and Fellow Councillors 1

2.1

The distinctive roles of the Leader, Mayor, Committee Chairs and
Councillors are already well-established at Leighton-Linslade Town
Council.

2.2

The Leader should ensure s/he consults as necessary with colleagues
in the early stages of formulating proposals. Committee Chairs, in
particular, should be consulted on issues relevant to their Committee
and the Mayor should be involved in any civic related matters or issues
which may affect the conduct of Council meetings.

Adopted by Council on 18 APRIL 2011

1

The majority of this Protocol will apply to Committee Chairs and all Councillors.

S://Council 2007 Onwards/Administration/Policies and Procedure Documents/Policy Documents/Protocol for Leader
Revised April 2011

Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 14

Committee Structure 27 April 2021
COUNCIL

POLICY & FINANCE
COMMITTEE

Page 15

GRANTS & AWARDS SUBCOMMITTEE

POLICE LIAISON
SUB-COMMITTEE

COMPLAINTS
COMMITTEE

PLANNING &
TRANSPORT
COMMITTEE

GROUNDS &
ENVIRONMENTAL
SERVICES
COMMITTEE

CULTURAL &
ECONOMIC
SERVICES
COMMITTEE

MARKET SUBCOMMITTEE

OLDER PERSONS
SUB COMMITTEE
(until March 2022)

Current Task & Finish Groups at 27.4.2021:
Concessions T&F Group
Land South of the High Street T&F Group
Health Services T&F Group

Agenda Item 12

PERSONNEL
SUB-COMMITTEE

DISCIPLINARY,
GRIEVANCE
& APPEALS
SUB-COMMITTEE

PARTNERSHIP
COMMITTEE

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16

Page 17

Page 18

Page 19

Page 20

Page 21

Page 22

LEIGHTON-LINSLADE TOWN COUNCIL
DELEGATION SCHEME
1.

Delegation to Committees
Except as mentioned below, each Committee shall exercise on behalf of the Council
the functions assigned to it as set out below. Committees are not bound to exercise
delegated powers and may at their discretion refer matters to the Council for
decisions. Each Committee is required to submit to the Council a report of its
proceedings since the previous meeting of the Council.

2.

3.

Delegation - Exceptions
(a)

The borrowing of money.

(b)

The levying of a rate.

(c)

The disposal of land, other than lettings for two years or less.

(d)

The introduction of new major policy or a change in the Council's
established policy.

(e)

The making of byelaws.

(f)

The purchase of land not provided for, or at a cost in excess of a sum
allowed as approved capital.

Sub-Committees
Committees may, subject to the concurrence of the Council, appoint Sub-Committees
and (subject to the foregoing exceptions) such of the Committees' powers and duties
as the Council may resolve, may be delegated to Sub-Committees. Each SubCommittee is required to submit to the main Committee a report of its proceedings
since the previous meeting of the Committee.

4.

Committee Chairs, Vice Chairs and Officers
It is unlawful to delegate powers to Committee Chairs, Vice Chairs.
Powers may be delegated to Officers (usually the Town Clerk) and these shall be
exercised within the framework of the Council's established policies. Power
delegated to an Officer may be exercised in his/her absence by a designated Deputy
or by another Officer specifically authorised by the Council.
Expenditure authorities delegated to the Town Clerk are as follows:
(a)

for specific items approved in the budgets within the budget sum

(b)

for no specific items within a standing authority of £2,500.

The exceptions and limitations are:
(i)

single items over £5,000 will require Committee or Council approval

Page 23

S:\Council May 2015 - Onwards\Administration\Policies and Procedures\Administration\Delegation Scheme May 2017.doc

(ii)

all grants to be dealt with by Council

(iii)

all Section 137 expenditure to require approval of Council.

Planning
The Town Clerk shall submit to the following meeting of the Planning and Transport
Committee, the particulars of every planning application notified to the Council and that, after
consultation with the Chair of that Committee, only applications deemed to be non-minor will
be discussed by that Committee. The formal consultation on minor applications is delegated
to the Town Clerk. Any Councillor may ask for a minor application to be discussed in full by
the Committee.
1.

Delegated applications include all applications received for consultation purposes
including all planning applications, advertisement and signs.

2.

All delegated decisions, which are recommended for approval, will be detailed, in
writing, to Members of the Planning and Transport Committee in a report that will be
tabled on the night of the meeting of that Committee.

3.

A list of proposed delegated decisions will be circulated to all Councillors. If a
Councillor wishes an application to be decided by the Committee, a written request
must be made to the Town Clerk prior to the meeting.

4.

It may be necessary to refer certain planning applications to the Grounds and
Environmental Services Committee or a joint meeting of the Planning/Grounds and
Environmental Services Committee for comment.

5.

No planning application can be delegated which falls into the following categories :
(a) To which a written objection from a member of the public has been received by
the Town Council.
(b) Any application for more than five dwellings (including flats, apartments and
maisonettes).

6.

The Town Clerk, or his/her nominated officer, must be cognizant of the application – its
location and the possible planning considerations.

Grounds and Environmental Services – Requests for Use of Parks & Open Spaces
The responsibility is delegated to the Town Clerk to respond to requests for use of the Town
Council parks and open spaces, in line with the agreed criteria.
Police Liaison Sub-Committee – Operation Dodford Service Level Agreement with
Bedfordshire Police
The responsibility is delegated to the Town Clerk, in consultation with the Chair of the Police
Liaison Sub-Committee, to authorise additional policing activity through the Operation
Dodford service level agreement and associated budget.

Adopted by Council 15 May 2017

S:\Council May 2015 - Onwards\Administration\Policies and Procedures\Administration\Delegation Scheme May 2017.doc

Page 24

Agenda Item 14

STANDING ORDERS 2021

Adopted by Council 29 April 2019
(amendments to 17d)ii) and 18e) agreed 25 January 2021)

Page
1 25

INTRODUCTION...................................................................................................... 3
1.

RULES OF DEBATE AT MEETINGS ............................................................... 4

2.

DISORDERLY CONDUCT AT MEETINGS ....................................................... 5

3.

MEETINGS GENERALLY ................................................................................. 6

4.

COMMITTEES AND SUB-COMMITTEES......................................................... 9

5.

ORDINARY AND ANNUAL COUNCIL MEETINGS ........................................ 10

6.

EXTRAORDINARY MEETINGS OF THE COUNCIL, COMMITTEES AND SUBCOMMITTEES ................................................................................................ 13

7.

PREVIOUS RESOLUTIONS ........................................................................... 13

8.

VOTING ON APPOINTMENTS ....................................................................... 14

9.

MOTIONS FOR A MEETING THAT REQUIRE WRITTEN NOTICE TO BE GIVEN TO
THE PROPER OFFICER ................................................................................ 14

10. MOTIONS AT A MEETING THAT DO NOT REQUIRE WRITTEN NOTICE.... 15
11. MANAGEMENT OF INFORMATION .............................................................. 16
12. DRAFT MINUTES ........................................................................................... 17
13. CODE OF CONDUCT AND DISPENSATIONS ............................................... 17
14. CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS ............................................................. 18
15. PROPER OFFICER ........................................................................................ 19
16. RESPONSIBLE FINANCIAL OFFICER .......................................................... 21
17. ACCOUNTS AND ACCOUNTING STATEMENTS ......................................... 21
18. FINANCIAL CONTROLS AND PROCUREMENT ........................................... 22
19. HANDLING STAFF MATTERS ....................................................................... 23
20. RESPONSIBILITIES TO PROVIDE INFORMATION ...................................... 23
21. RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER DATA PROTECTION LEGISLATION .............. 24
22. RELATIONS WITH THE PRESS/MEDIA ........................................................ 24
23. EXECUTION AND SEALING OF LEGAL DEEDS .......................................... 24
24. COMMUNICATING WITH COUNTY COUNCILLORS .................................... 24
25. RESTRICTIONS ON COUNCILLOR ACTIVITIES .......................................... 25
26. STANDING ORDERS GENERALLY............................................................... 25
27.
28.
29
30.
31.
32.
33.
34.
35.

QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS……………………………………………..25
POLITICAL GROUPS………………………………………………………………..26
PROPORTIONAL REPRESENTATION………………………………………….. 26
ESTIMATES/PRECEPTS……………………………………………………………26
CANVASSING OF AND RECOMMENDATIONS BY COUNCILLORS …….. 27
INSPECTION OF DOCUMENTS………………………………………………….. 27
CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS………………………………………………………. 27
GENERAL POWER OF COMPETENCE……………………………… ………. 28
CO-OPTION…………………………………………………………………………..28

Page2 26

INTRODUCTION
These standing orders are based on the 2018 update to the National Association of Local Council
(NALC) model standing orders contained in “Local Councils Explained” by Meera Tharmarajah (© 2013
NALC). This publication contains new model standing orders which reference new legislation
introduced after 2013 when the last model standing orders were published.
Existing Leighton-Linslade Town Council Standing Orders have been incorporated and added to the
NALC model in the appropriate sections.
Sections 27 onwards have been added to the NALC model from the 2015 Town Council Standing
Orders.
A review of Standing Orders in 2020/21 resulted in additions/amendments to sections 3e,4,5, 15,19,27
and 28.

HOW TO USE STANDING ORDERS
Standing orders are the written rules of a local council. Standing orders are essential to regulate the
proceedings of a meeting. A council may also use standing orders to confirm or refer to various internal
organisational and administrative arrangements. The standing orders of a council are not the same as
the policies of a council but standing orders may refer to them.
Local councils operate within a wide statutory framework. NALC model standing orders incorporate
and reference many statutory requirements to which councils are subject. It is not possible for the
model standing orders to contain or reference all the statutory or legal requirements which apply to
local councils. For example, it is not practical for model standing orders to document all obligations
under data protection legislation. The statutory requirements to which a council is subject apply whether
or not they are incorporated in a council’s standing orders.
The model standing orders do not include model financial regulations. Financial regulations are
standing orders to regulate and control the financial affairs and accounting procedures of a local
council. The financial regulations, as opposed to the standing orders of a council, include most of the
requirements relevant to the council’s Responsible Financial Officer.
Standing orders that are in bold type contain legal and statutory requirements.

Page
3 27

1.

RULES OF DEBATE AT MEETINGS

a

Motions on the agenda shall be considered in the order that they appear unless the order is
changed at the discretion of the Chair of the meeting.

b

A motion (including an amendment) shall not be progressed unless it has been moved and
seconded.

c

A motion on the agenda that is not moved by its proposer may be treated by the Chair of the
meeting as withdrawn.

d

If a motion (including an amendment) has been seconded, it may be withdrawn by the proposer
only with the consent of the seconder and the meeting.

e

An amendment is a proposal to remove or add words to a motion. It shall not negate the motion.

f

If an amendment to the original motion is carried, the original motion (as amended) becomes the
substantive motion upon which further amendment(s) may be moved.

g

An amendment shall not be considered unless early verbal notice of it is given at the meeting
and, if requested by the Chair of the meeting, is expressed in writing to the Chair.

h

A councillor may move an amendment to his/her own motion if agreed by the meeting. If a motion
has already been seconded, the amendment shall be with the consent of the seconder and the
meeting.

i

If there is more than one amendment to an original or substantive motion, the amendments shall
be moved in the order directed by the Chair of the meeting.

j

Subject to standing order 1(k), only one amendment shall be moved and debated at a time, the
order of which shall be directed by the Chair of the meeting.

k

One or more amendments may be discussed together if the Chair of the meeting considers this
expedient but each amendment shall be voted upon separately.

l

A councillor may not move more than one amendment to an original or substantive motion.

m

The mover of a motion or the mover of an amendment shall have a right of reply not exceeding
5 minutes.

n

Where a series of amendments to an original motion are carried, the mover of the original motion
shall have a right of reply either at the end of debate on the first amendment or at the very end
of debate on the final substantive motion immediately before it is put to the vote.

o

Unless permitted by the Chair of the meeting, a councillor may speak once in the debate on a
motion except:
i. to speak on an amendment moved by another councillor;
ii. to move or speak on another amendment if the motion has been amended since s/he last
spoke;
iii. to make a point of order;

Page4 28

iv. to give a personal explanation; or
v. to exercise a right of reply.
p

During the debate on a motion, a councillor may interrupt only on a point of order or a personal
explanation and the councillor who was interrupted shall stop speaking. A councillor raising a
point of order shall identify the standing order which s/he considers has been breached or specify
the other irregularity in the proceedings of the meeting s/he is concerned by.

q

A point of order shall be decided by the Chair of the meeting and his/her decision shall be final.

r

When a motion is under debate, no other motion shall be moved except:
i. to amend the motion;
ii. to proceed to the next business;
iii. to adjourn the debate;
iv. to put the motion to a vote;
v. to ask a person to be no longer heard or to leave the meeting;
vi. to refer a motion to a committee or sub-committee for consideration;
vii. to exclude the public and press;
viii. to adjourn the meeting; or
ix. to suspend particular standing order(s) excepting those which reflect mandatory statutory or
legal requirements.

s

Before an original or substantive motion is put to the vote, the Chair of the meeting shall be
satisfied that the motion has been sufficiently debated and that the mover of the motion under
debate has exercised or waived his/her right of reply. The adjournment of a debate or a meeting
shall not prejudice the mover’s right of reply at the resumption.

t

Excluding motions moved under standing order 1(r), the contributions or speeches by a councillor
shall relate only to the motion under discussion and shall not exceed 5 minutes without the
consent of the Chair of the meeting.

u

If a member of a political party or an independent Councillor moves a motion or a resolution
where that Member is the sole representative of that party, the motion or resolution shall be
deemed to have been automatically seconded.

v

No speech by a mover of a resolution shall exceed ten minutes.

2.

DISORDERLY CONDUCT AT MEETINGS

a

No person shall obstruct the transaction of business at a meeting or behave offensively or
improperly. If this standing order is ignored, the Chair of the meeting shall request such person(s)
to moderate or improve their conduct.

Page
5 29

b

If person(s) disregard the request of the Chair of the meeting to moderate or improve their
conduct, any councillor or the Chair of the meeting may move that the person be no longer heard
or be excluded from the meeting. The motion, if seconded, shall be put to the vote without
discussion.

c

If a resolution made under standing order 2(b) is disobeyed, the Chair may take such further
steps as reasonably be necessary to enforce it and/or s/he may adjourn the meeting.

3.

MEETINGS GENERALLY

a

Meetings shall not take place in premises which at the time of the meeting are used for
the supply of alcohol, unless no other premises are available free of charge or at a
reasonable cost. All meetings of the Council shall be held at The White House at 1930 hours
unless the Council decides otherwise at a previous meeting. (Council only)

b

The minimum three clear days for notice of a meeting does not include the day on which
notice was issued, the day of the meeting, a Sunday, a day of the Christmas break, a day
of the Easter break or of a bank holiday or a day appointed for public thanksgiving or
mourning.

c

The minimum three clear days’ public notice for a meeting does not include the day on
which the notice was issued or the day of the meeting unless the meeting is convened at
shorter notice (Committees only).

d

Meetings shall be open to the public unless their presence is prejudicial to the public
interest by reason of the confidential nature of the business to be transacted or for other
special reasons. The public’s exclusion from part or all of a meeting shall be by a
resolution which shall give reasons for the public’s exclusion.

e

Members of the public may make representations, answer questions and give evidence at a
meeting which they are entitled to attend in respect of the business on the agenda.
(i)

Members of the public who wish to ask a question at a Council meeting are requested to
give notice to the Town Clerk no later than 4pm on the working day before the meeting.
The question stated in the notice given to the Town Clerk shall be the question asked at
the meeting.

(ii)

Questions to be asked at the meeting of a Committee, Sub-Committee or Task and Finish
Group should be relevant to items on the agenda for that specific meeting but need not be
submitted in advance (see SO 4i).

(iii)

Questions asked of Council should be relevant to the responsibilities of the Town Council.

(iv)

The Chair will call upon those wishing to speak in turn.

(v)

Answers to questions may take the form of an immediate, direct oral response, a written
response after the meeting or when the desired information is contained in a publication,
reference to that publication.

(vi)

Every question shall be put and answered without discussion.

Page6 30

(vii) The Chair of the meeting shall not allow any question that is in their opinion:
i.

Defamatory, frivolous, vexatious or offensive

ii.

Requires the disclosure of exempt or confidential information

iii.

Relates to complaints about individual Councillors or Officers

f

The period of time designated for public participation at a meeting in
accordance with standing order 3(e) shall not exceed 15 minutes unless
directed by the Chair of the meeting.

g

Subject to standing order 3(f), a member of the public shall not speak for more than 3 minutes.

h

In accordance with standing order 3(e), a question shall not require a response at the meeting
nor start a debate on the question. The Chair of the meeting may direct that a written or oral
response be given.

i

A person shall raise his/her hand when requesting to speak.

j

A person who speaks at a meeting shall direct his/her comments to the Chair of the meeting.

k

Only one person is permitted to speak at a time. If more than one person wants to speak, the
Chair of the meeting shall direct the order of speaking.

l

Subject to standing order 3(m), a person who attends a meeting is permitted to report
on the meeting whilst the meeting is open to the public. To “report” means to film,
photograph, make an audio recording of meeting proceedings, use any other means for
enabling persons not present to see or hear the meeting as it takes place or later or to
report or to provide oral or written commentary about the meeting so that the report or
commentary is available as the meeting takes place or later to persons not present.

m

A person present at a meeting may not provide an oral report or oral commentary about
a meeting as it takes place without permission.

n

The press shall be provided with reasonable facilities for the taking of their report of all
or part of a meeting at which they are entitled to be present.

o

Subject to standing orders which indicate otherwise, anything authorised or required to
be done by, to or before the Chair of the Council may in his/her absence be done by, to
or before the Vice-Chair of the Council (if there is one).

p

The Chair of the Council, if present, shall preside at a meeting. If the Chair is absent
from a meeting, the Vice-Chair of the Council (if there is one) if present, shall preside.
If both the Chair and the Vice-Chair are absent from a meeting, a councillor as chosen
by the councillors present at the meeting shall preside at the meeting.

q

Subject to a meeting being quorate, all questions at a meeting shall be decided by a
majority of the councillors and non-councillors with voting rights present and voting.

Page
7 31

r

The Chair of a meeting may give an original vote on any matter put to the vote, and in
the case of an equality of votes may exercise his/her casting vote whether or not s/he
gave an original vote.

See standing orders 5(h) and (i) for the different rules that apply in the election of the Chair of the
Council at the annual meeting of the Council.
s

Unless standing orders provide otherwise, voting on a question shall be by a show of
hands. At the request of a councillor, the voting on any question shall be recorded so
as to show whether each councillor present and voting gave his/her vote for or against
that question. Such a request shall be made before moving on to the next item of business
on the agenda.

t

The minutes of a meeting shall include an accurate record of the following:
i. the time and place of the meeting;
ii. the names of councillors who are present and the names of councillors who are absent
(in the case of a committee or subcommittee);
iii. interests that have been declared by councillors and non-councillors with voting rights;
iv. the grant of dispensations (if any) to councillors and non-councillors with voting rights;
v. whether a councillor or non-councillor with voting rights left the meeting when matters
that they held interests in were being considered;
vi. if there was a public participation session; and
vii. the resolutions made.

u

A councillor or a non-councillor with voting rights who has a disclosable pecuniary interest
or another interest as set out in the Council’s code of conduct in a matter being considered
at a meeting is subject to statutory limitations or restrictions under the code on his/her
right to participate and vote on that matter.

v

No business may be transacted at a Council meeting unless at least one-third of the whole
number of members of the Council are present and in no case shall the quorum of any
meeting be less than three.

See standing order 4d for the quorum of a committee or sub-committee meeting.
w

If a meeting is or becomes inquorate no business shall be transacted and the meeting shall
be closed. The business on the agenda for the meeting shall be adjourned to another meeting.

x

A meeting shall not exceed a period of 2.5 hours.

y

A motion to vary the order of business on the grounds of urgency:
(a) May be proposed by the Town Mayor, or by any Member, and, if proposed by the Town
Mayor, may be put to the vote without being seconded, and

Page8 32

(b) Shall be put to the vote without discussion

4.

COMMITTEES AND SUB-COMMITTEES

Standing Orders 1,2,3,6,7,9,10,11,12,13,26,29 and 33, unless otherwise specified, apply to all
meetings of Committees, Sub-Committees and Task and Finish Groups.
a

Unless the Council determines otherwise, a committee may appoint a sub-committee
whose terms of reference and members shall be determined by the committee.

b

The members of a committee may include non-councillors unless it is a committee which
regulates and controls the finances of the Council.

c

Unless the Council determines otherwise, all the members of an advisory committee and
a sub-committee of the advisory committee may be non-councillors.

d

The quorum of a meeting of a committee, sub-committee or Task and Finish group shall be no
less than three.

e

The Council may appoint standing committees or other committees as may be necessary, and:
i.

shall determine their terms of reference;

ii.

may permit a committee to vary the dates of its meetings;

iii. shall, subject to standing orders 4(b) and (c), appoint and determine the terms of office of
councillor or non-councillor members of such a committee (unless the appointment of noncouncillors is prohibited by law) so as to hold office no later than the next annual meeting;
iv. shall, after it has appointed the members of a standing committee, appoint the Chair of the
standing committee to serve until the next Council Annual Meeting. Any member of a standing
committee may be elected Chair, unless they are currently Chair (Town Mayor) of the Council;
v. shall permit a committee other than a standing committee, to appoint its own Chair at the
first meeting of the committee. The Chair of any committee should not also be appointed Chair
of any Sub-Committees or Task Groups of that committee.
vi. may dissolve a committee or a sub-committee at any time.
f

Substitutes:
i.
A committee may appoint substitute councillors whose role is to replace ordinary
councillors at a meeting of a committee, if ordinary councillors have confirmed to the Proper
Officer prior to the meeting that they are unable to attend;
ii.
an ordinary member of a committee who has been replaced at a meeting by a substitute
(in accordance with SO 4 (f) (i) above) shall not be permitted to vote on business at that meeting.
Any councillor attending the meeting may speak at the invitation of the Chair.

g

In the case of meetings of the committee responsible for Planning, questions or statements may
be put by members of the public on individual planning applications immediately prior to the
discussion on such applications (subject to the rules detailed in 3(f) and 3(g) and at the

Page
9 33

discretion of the Chair.
h

The following shall apply with regard to the presence of non-members of Committees (and sub
committees) at Committee (and sub committee) meetings:
i. a member who has proposed a resolution, which has been referred to any Committee or sub
committee of which s/he is not a member, should attend the meeting and explain his/her
resolution, but not vote.
ii. a member who has requested an item be included on a Committee or sub committee agenda
should attend the meeting and explain his/her request to the meeting.
iii. any councillor may attend and with the permission of the Chair, speak on particular matters
at a meeting of a Committee (or sub committee) of which s/he is not a member, but may not
vote.

i

Members of the public may ask questions on any item on the agenda of a meeting during the
time allotted for public questions, in accordance with Standing Orders 3(f) and 3(g). Questions
need not be submitted in writing in advance.

j

Unless there is a Council resolution to the contrary, every committee may appoint a sub
committee whose terms of reference and members shall be determined by resolution of that
committee.

k

Every committee may appoint a Task and Finish Group or working party, if required to undertake
research or complete a task (subject to Terms of Reference). Non councillor members may be
appointed to join such groups, as appropriate. The committee may appoint a Chair for the Task
and Finish Group, which will be for the duration of the project. Task and Finish Groups or
working parties need not be subject to proportional representation (SO 29) if the appointing
body agrees otherwise.

l

At least four councillors shall be appointed to Task and Finish groups.

m

The need for a Task and Finish group, working party or advisory committee should be
reviewed after six months by the parent Committee.

n

The Council may appoint advisory committees comprised of a number of councillors and non
councillors.

o

Advisory committee may consist wholly of persons who are non councillors.

p

Sub-Committees, Task and Finish Groups, working parties and advisory committees may not
take decisions or authorise expenditure unless specifically stated otherwise in their Terms of
Reference, but will make recommendations to the parent committee for consideration.

5.

ANNUAL AND ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETINGS

ANNUAL COUNCIL MEETING
a

In an election year, the annual meeting of the Council shall be held on or within 14 days
following the day on which the councillors elected take office.

Page
1034

b

In a year which is not an election year, the annual meeting of the Council shall be held on
the third Monday in May, or any such day in May as the Council decides.

c

If no other time is fixed, the annual meeting of the Council shall take place at 7.30pm.

d

In addition to the annual meeting of the Council, at least three other ordinary meetings
shall be held in each year on such dates and times as the Council decides.

e

The first business conducted at the annual meeting of the Council shall be the election of
the Chair and Vice-Chair (if there is one) of the Council.

f

The Chair of the Council, unless he has resigned or becomes disqualified, shall continue
in office and preside at the annual meeting until his/her successor is elected at the next
annual meeting of the Council.

g

The Vice-Chair of the Council, if there is one, unless s/he resigns or becomes disqualified,
shall hold office until immediately after the election of the Chair of the Council at the next
annual meeting of the Council.

h

In an election year, if the current Chair of the Council has not been re-elected as a member
of the Council, s/he shall preside at the annual meeting until a successor Chair of the
Council has been elected. The current Chair of the Council shall not have an original vote
in respect of the election of the new Chair of the Council but shall give a casting vote in
the case of an equality of votes.

i

In an election year, if the current Chair of the Council has been re-elected as a member of
the Council, s/he shall preside at the annual meeting until a new Chair of the Council has
been elected. S/he may exercise an original vote in respect of the election of the new Chair
of the Council and shall give a casting vote in the case of an equality of votes.

j

Following the election of the Chair of the Council and Vice-Chair (if there is one) of the Council
at the annual meeting, the business shall include:

i.

In an election year, delivery by the Chair of the Council and councillors of their
acceptance of office forms unless the Council resolves for this to be done at a later date.
In a year which is not an election year, delivery by the Chair of the Council of his/her
acceptance of office form unless the Council resolves for this to be done at a later date;

ii.

Confirmation of the accuracy of the minutes of the last meeting of the Council;

iii.

Receipt of the minutes of the last meeting of a committee;

iv.

Consideration of the recommendations made by a committee;

v.

Review of delegation arrangements to committees, sub-committees, staff and other local
authorities;

vi.

Review of the terms of reference for committees;

vii.

Appointment of members to existing committees;

viii. Review of representation on or work with external bodies and arrangements for reporting
back;

Page
11 35

ix.

In an election year, to make arrangements with a view to the Council becoming eligible to
exercise the general power of competence in the future;

x.

Determining the time and place of ordinary meetings of the Council up to and including the
next annual meeting of the Council.

xi.

In the ordinary year of election to the Council, to fill any vacancies left unfilled at the election
by reason of insufficient nominations.

xii.

To elect a Councillor to be Leader of the Council.

xiii. To announce the Leaders and Deputy Leaders of the political groups represented on the
Council.

xiv. To receive announcements from the Group Leaders of the Council.
xv.
k.

To review and confirm the number of members and representation by each of the political
groups for each Committee.

Council will delegate to the appropriate committee, usually the Policy and Finance Committee,
the periodic review of the following:

i.

Appointment of any new committees in accordance with standing order 4;

ii.

Review and adoption of appropriate standing orders and financial regulations;

iii. Review of arrangements (including legal agreements) with other local authorities, not-forprofit bodies and businesses.

iv. Review of inventory of land and other assets including buildings and office equipment;
v.

Confirmation of arrangements for insurance cover in respect of all insurable risks;

vi. Review of the Council’s and/or staff subscriptions to other bodies;
vii. Review of the Council’s complaints procedure;
viii. Review of the Council’s policies, procedures and practices in respect of its obligations
under freedom of information and data protection legislation (see also standing orders 11, 20
and 21);

ix. Review of the Council’s policy for dealing with the press/media;
x.

Review of the Council’s employment policies and procedures;

xi. Review of the Council’s expenditure incurred under s.137 of the Local Government Act
1972 or the general power of competence.
ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETINGS
l

At every other ordinary Council meeting, the agenda shall include:
i.

to receive apologies for absence.

Page
1236

ii.

to receive declarations of interest.

iii.

To consider any requests for dispensations (SO 13).

iv.

To approve the minutes of the last meeting as an accurate record.

v.

To receive questions or statements from the public (SO 3e-h).

vi.

Chair’s (Town Mayor’s) announcements.

vii.

Political group leaders’ announcements.

viii.

To consider Motions which have been notified to the Town Clerk (SO 9).

ix.

To receive minutes of standing Committee meetings (SO 12) and to consider any
recommendations contained therein.

x.

To allow up to 15 minutes in total for question and comment by Councillors on minutes of
standing Committee meetings (additional time may be permitted at the Chair’s discretion).
Such questions or comments should be restricted to 2 minutes each.

xi.

To consider any questions from Councillors (SO 27).

xii.

To consider any other business specified in the summons to the meeting.

xiii.

To consider appointments to committees.

xiv.

To consider appointments to and reports from outside bodies.

6.

EXTRAORDINARY MEETINGS OF THE COUNCIL, COMMITTEES AND SUB-COMMITTEES

a

The Chair of the Council may convene an extraordinary meeting of the Council at any time.

b

If the Chair of the Council does not call an extraordinary meeting of the Council within
seven days of having been requested in writing to do so by two councillors, any two
councillors may convene an extraordinary meeting of the Council. The public notice giving
the time, place and agenda for such a meeting shall be signed by the two councillors.

c

The Chair of a committee [or a sub-committee] may convene an extraordinary meeting of the
committee [or the sub-committee] at any time.

d

If the Chair of a committee [or a sub-committee] does not call an extraordinary meeting within 7
days of having been requested to do so by 2 members of the committee [or the sub-committee],
those 2 members of the committee [or the sub-committee] may convene an extraordinary meeting
of the committee [or a sub-committee]. The statutory public notice giving the time, venue and
agenda for such a meeting must be signed by 2 councillors.

7.

PREVIOUS RESOLUTIONS

a

A resolution shall not be reversed within six months except either by a special motion, which
requires written notice by at least 6 councillors to be given to the Proper Officer in accordance

Page
13 37

with Standing Order 9, or by a motion moved in pursuance of the recommendation of a committee
or a sub-committee.
b

The body which made the decision may subsequently alter the decision in extenuating
circumstances (e.g. should additional relevant information come to light)

c

When a motion moved pursuant to standing order 7(a) has been disposed of, no similar motion
may be moved for a further six months.

8.

VOTING ON APPOINTMENTS

a

Where more than two persons have been nominated for a position to be filled by the Council and
none of those persons has received an absolute majority of votes in their favour, the name of the
person having the least number of votes shall be struck off the list and a fresh vote taken. This
process shall continue until a majority of votes is given in favour of one person. A tie in votes may
be settled by the casting vote exercisable by the Chair of the meeting.

9.

MOTIONS FOR A MEETING THAT REQUIRE WRITTEN NOTICE TO BE GIVEN TO THE
PROPER OFFICER

a

A motion shall relate to the responsibilities of the meeting for which it is tabled and in any event
shall relate to the performance of the Council’s statutory functions, powers and obligations or an
issue which specifically affects the Council’s area or its residents.

b

No motion may be moved at a meeting unless it is on the agenda and the mover has given written
notice of its wording to the Proper Officer at least 10 clear days before the meeting. Clear days
do not include the day of the notice or the day of the meeting.

c

The Proper Officer may, before including a motion on the agenda received in accordance with
standing order 9(b), correct obvious grammatical or typographical errors in the wording of the
motion.

d

If the Proper Officer considers the wording of a motion received in accordance with standing
order 9(b) is not clear in meaning, the motion shall be rejected until the mover of the motion
resubmits it, so that it can be understood, in writing, to the Proper Officer at least 7 clear days
before the meeting.

e

If the wording or subject of a proposed motion is considered improper, the Proper Officer shall
consult with the Chair of the forthcoming meeting or, as the case may be, the councillors who
have convened the meeting, to consider whether the motion shall be included in the agenda or
rejected.

f

The decision of the Proper Officer as to whether or not to include the motion on the agenda shall
be final.

g

Motions received shall be recorded and numbered in the order that they are received.

h

Motions rejected shall be recorded with an explanation by the Proper Officer of the reason for
rejection.

Page
1438

10.

MOTIONS AT A MEETING THAT DO NOT REQUIRE WRITTEN NOTICE

a

The following motions may be moved at a meeting without written notice to the Proper Officer:
i.

to correct an inaccuracy in the draft minutes of a meeting;

ii.

to move to a vote;

iii.

to defer consideration of a motion;

iv.

to refer a motion to a particular committee or sub-committee;

v.

to appoint a person to preside at a meeting;

vi.

to change the order of business on the agenda;

vii.

to proceed to the next business on the agenda;

viii.

to require a written report;

ix.

to appoint a committee or sub-committee and their members;

x.

to extend the time limits for speaking;

xi.

to exclude the press and public from a meeting in respect of confidential or other
information which is prejudicial to the public interest;

xii.

to not hear further from a councillor or a member of the public;

xiii.

to exclude a councillor or member of the public for disorderly conduct;

xiv.

to temporarily suspend the meeting;

xv.

to suspend a particular standing order (unless it reflects mandatory statutory or legal
requirements);

xvi.

to adjourn the meeting;

xvii.

to close the meeting;

xviii.

to approve the absences of councillors;

xix.

to approve the accuracy of the minutes of the previous meeting;

xx.

to dispose of business, if any, remaining from the last meeting;

xxi.

to close or adjourn debate;

xxii.

to receive nominations to a committee or sub committee;

xxiii.

to note the minutes of a meeting of a committee or sub committee;

xxiv.

to consider a report and/or recommendation/s made by a committee or a sub
committee;

Page
15 39

b

11.

xxv.

to consider a report and/or recommendation/s made by an employee, professional
advisor, expert or consultant;

xxvi.

to authorise legal deeds to be signed by two councillors and witnessed;

xxvii.

to amend a motion relevant to the original or substantive motion under consideration
which shall not have the effect of nullifying it;

xxviii.

To give the consent of Council if such consent is required by standing orders;

xxix.

To appoint representatives to outside bodies and to make arrangements for those
representatives to report back the activities of outside bodies;

xxx.

A Member may ask the Chair or the Proper Officer any question concerning the
business of the Council and a member may ask the Chair of a Committee any question
upon the proceedings of the Committee then before Council;

xxxi.

No questions shall be asked not connected with business under discussion except
during the part of the meeting set aside for questions;

xxxii.

Every question shall be put and answered without discussion;

xxxiii.

A person to whom a question has been put may decline to answer

If a motion falls within the terms of reference of a committee or sub committee or within the
delegated powers conferred upon an employee, a referral of the same may be made to such
committee or sub committee or employee, provided that the Chair may direct for it to be dealt
with at the present meeting for reasons of urgency or expedience.

MANAGEMENT OF INFORMATION
See also standing order 20.

a

The Council shall have in place and keep under review, technical and organisational
measures to keep secure information (including personal data) which it holds in paper
and electronic form. Such arrangements shall include deciding who has access to
personal data and encryption of personal data.

b

The Council shall have in place, and keep under review, policies for the retention and
safe destruction of all information (including personal data) which it holds in paper and
electronic form. The Council’s retention policy shall confirm the period for which
information (including personal data) shall be retained or if this is not possible the
criteria used to determine that period (e.g. the Limitation Act 1980).

c

The agenda, papers that support the agenda and the minutes of a meeting shall not
disclose or otherwise undermine confidential information or personal data without legal
justification.

d

Councillors, staff, the Council’s contractors and agents shall not disclose confidential
information or personal data without legal justification.

Page
1640

12.

DRAFT MINUTES

a

If the draft minutes of a preceding meeting have been served on councillors with the agenda to
attend the meeting at which they are due to be approved for accuracy, they shall be taken as
read.

b

There shall be no discussion about the draft minutes of a preceding meeting except in relation to
their accuracy. A motion to correct an inaccuracy in the draft minutes shall be moved in accordance
with standing order 10(a)(i).

c

The accuracy of draft minutes, including any amendment(s) made to them, shall be confirmed by
resolution and shall be signed by the Chair of the meeting and stand as an accurate record of the
meeting to which the minutes relate.

d

If the Chair of the meeting does not consider the minutes to be an accurate record of the meeting
to which they relate, s/he shall sign the minutes and include a paragraph in the following terms or
to the same effect:
“The Chair of this meeting does not believe that the minutes of the meeting of the ( ) held on [date]
in respect of ( ) were a correct record but his view was not upheld by the meeting and the minutes
are confirmed as an accurate record of the proceedings.”

e

If the Council’s gross annual income or expenditure (whichever is higher) does not exceed
£25,000, it shall publish draft minutes on a website which is publicly accessible and free
of charge not later than one month after the meeting has taken place.

f

Subject to the publication of draft minutes in accordance with standing order 12(e) and standing
order 20(a) and following a resolution which confirms the accuracy of the minutes of a meeting,
the draft minutes or recordings of the meeting for which approved minutes exist shall be destroyed.

13.

CODE OF CONDUCT AND DISPENSATIONS
See also standing order 3(u).

a

All councillors and non-councillors with voting rights shall observe the code of conduct adopted
by the Council.

b

Unless s/he has been granted a dispensation, a councillor or non-councillor with voting rights
shall withdraw from a meeting when it is considering a matter in which s/he has a disclosable
pecuniary interest. S/he may return to the meeting after it has considered the matter in which
s/he had the interest.

c

Unless he has been granted a dispensation, a councillor or non-councillor with voting rights shall
withdraw from a meeting when it is considering a matter in which s/he has another interest if so
required by the Council’s code of conduct. S/he may return to the meeting after it has considered
the matter in which s/he had the interest.

d

Dispensation requests shall be in writing and submitted to the Proper Officer as soon as
possible before the meeting, or failing that, at the start of the meeting for which the dispensation

Page
17 41

is required.
e

A decision as to whether to grant a dispensation shall be made by a meeting of the Council, or
committee or sub-committee for which the dispensation is required, and that decision is final.

f

A dispensation request shall confirm:
i. the description and the nature of the disclosable pecuniary interest or other interest to which
the request for the dispensation relates;
ii. whether the dispensation is required to participate at a meeting in a discussion only or a
discussion and a vote;
iii. the date of the meeting or the period (not exceeding four years) for which the dispensation is
sought; and
iv. an explanation as to why the dispensation is sought.

g

Subject to standing orders 13(d) and (f), a dispensation request shall be considered at the
beginning of the meeting of the Council, or committee or sub-committee for which the dispensation
is required.

h

A dispensation may be granted in accordance with standing order 13(e) if having regard to
all relevant circumstances any of the following apply:

i.

without the dispensation the number of persons prohibited from participating in the
particular business would be so great a proportion of the meeting transacting the business
as to impede the transaction of the business;
ii.
or

granting the dispensation is in the interests of persons living in the Council’s area;

iii.

it is otherwise appropriate to grant a dispensation.

14.

CODE OF CONDUCT COMPLAINTS

a

Upon notification by the District or Unitary Council that it is dealing with a complaint that a
councillor or non-councillor with voting rights has breached the Council’s code of conduct, the
Proper Officer shall, subject to standing order 11, report this to the Council.

b

Where the notification in standing order 14(a) relates to a complaint made by the Proper Officer,
the Proper Officer shall notify the Chair of Council of this fact, and the Chair shall nominate
another staff member to assume the duties of the Proper Officer in relation to the complaint until
it has been determined and the Council has agreed what action, if any, to take in accordance
with standing order 14(d).

c

The Council may:
i. provide information or evidence where such disclosure is necessary to investigate the complaint
or is a legal requirement;
ii. seek information relevant to the complaint from the person or body with statutory responsibility

Page
1842

for investigation of the matter;
d

Upon notification by the District or Unitary Council that a councillor or non-councillor with
voting rights has breached the Council’s code of conduct, the Council shall consider what,
if any, action to take against him/her. Such action excludes disqualification or suspension
from office.

15.

PROPER OFFICER

a

The Proper Officer shall be either (i) the clerk or (ii) other staff member(s) nominated by the
Council to undertake the work of the Proper Officer when the Proper Officer is absent.

b

The Proper Officer shall:
i.
at least three clear days before a meeting of the council, a committee or a subcommittee,
 serve on councillors by delivery or post at their residences or by email authenticated in
such manner as the Proper Officer thinks fit, a signed summons confirming the time, place
and the agenda (provided the councillor has consented to service by email), and
 Provide, in a conspicuous place, public notice of the time, place and agenda (provided
that the public notice with agenda of an extraordinary meeting of the Council convened
by councillors is signed by them).
See standing order 3(b) for the meaning of clear days for a meeting of a full council and standing
order 3(c) for the meaning of clear days for a meeting of a committee;
ii.
subject to standing order 9, include on the agenda all motions in the order received unless
a councillor has given written notice at least 5 days before the meeting confirming his/her
withdrawal of it;
iii.
convene a meeting of the Council for the election of a new Chair of the Council,
occasioned by a casual vacancy in his office;
iv.

facilitate inspection of the minute book by local government electors;

v.

receive and retain copies of byelaws made by other local authorities;

vi.

hold acceptance of office forms from councillors;

vii.

hold a copy of every councillor’s register of interests;

viii. assist with responding to requests made under freedom of information legislation and rights
exercisable under data protection legislation, in accordance with the Council’s relevant policies
and procedures;
ix.
receive and send general correspondence and notices on behalf of the Council except
where there is a resolution to the contrary;
x.
assist in the organisation of, storage of, access to, security of and destruction of information
held by the Council in paper and electronic form subject to the requirements of data protection

Page
19 43

and freedom of information legislation and other legitimate requirements (e.g. the Limitation Act
1980);
xi.
arrange for legal deeds to be executed;
(see also standing order 23);
xii. arrange or manage the prompt authorisation, approval, and instruction regarding any
payments to be made by the Council in accordance with its financial regulations;
xiii. record every planning application notified to the Council and the Council’s response to the
local planning authority in a book for such purpose;
xiv. refer a planning application received by the Council to the Chair or in his/her absence the
Vice-Chair of the Committee responsible for Planning and to the Chair or in his/her absence the
Vice Chair of any other relevant Committee] within two working days of receipt to facilitate an
extraordinary joint meeting if the nature of a planning application requires consideration by both
Committees;
xv.

manage access to information about the Council via the publication scheme; and

xvi. retain custody of the seal of the Council (if there is one) which shall not be used without a
resolution to that effect.
xvii. Action or undertake activity or responsibilities instructed by resolution or contained in
standing orders.
xviii. Certify copies of byelaws made by the Council.

c

The Town Clerk has the delegated authority to undertake the following matters on behalf of the
Council:
i.

the day to day administration, development, management and promotion of Council
services and associated activities, together with routine inspection and control.

ii.

The day to day supervision, control and management of all staff employed by the Council
including appointment, disciplinary and dismissal, unless stated otherwise in adopted
Council policies.

iii.

Authorisation of routine expenditure as set out in Financial Regulations.

iv.

Emergency expenditure as set out in Financial Regulations.

v.

The short term licensing of events and activities taking place on Council land and in
Council owned premises.

vi.

Delegated actions of the Town Clerk shall be in accordance with Standing Orders and
Financial Regulations.

vii.

In the event of a decision being required outside of the approved calendar of meetings, to
seek advice from the Town Mayor and Group Leaders as to whether the matter is of
sufficient urgency and importance to convene an extraordinary meeting of the Council or
appropriate committee. Where an extraordinary meeting cannot be lawfully convened or

Page
2044

is inquorate, to seek approval by email from a number of Councillors at least equal to and
ideally greater than the quorum of the relevant body, prior to undertaking a course of
action. A record should be kept of any such actions.

16.

RESPONSIBLE FINANCIAL OFFICER

a

The Council shall appoint appropriate staff member(s) to undertake the work of the Responsible
Financial Officer when the Responsible Financial Officer is absent.

17.

ACCOUNTS AND ACCOUNTING STATEMENTS

a

“Proper practices” in standing orders refer to the most recent version of “Governance and
Accountability for Local Councils – a Practitioners’ Guide”.

b

All payments by the Council shall be authorised, approved and paid in accordance with the law,
proper practices and the Council’s financial regulations.

c

The Responsible Financial Officer shall supply to each councillor as soon as practicable after 30
June, 30 September and 31 December in each year a statement to summarise:
i. the Council’s receipts and payments (or income and expenditure) for each quarter;
ii. the Council’s aggregate receipts and payments (or income and expenditure) for the year to
date;
iii. the balances held at the end of the quarter being reported and
which includes a comparison with the budget for the financial year and highlights any actual or
potential overspends.

d

As soon as possible after the financial year end at 31 March, the Responsible Financial Officer
shall provide:
i. each councillor with a statement summarising the Council’s receipts and payments (or income
and expenditure) for the last quarter and the year to date for information; and
ii. to the Council the accounting statements for the year in the form of Section 2 of the annual
governance and accountability return, as required by proper practices, for consideration and
approval.

e

The year-end accounting statements shall be prepared in accordance with proper practices and
apply the form of accounts determined by the Council (receipts and payments, or income and
expenditure) for the year to 31 March. A completed draft annual governance and accountability
return shall be presented to all councillors at least 14 days prior to anticipated approval by the
Council. The annual governance and accountability return of the Council, which is subject to
external audit, including the annual governance statement, shall be presented to the Council for
consideration and formal approval before 30 June.

Page
21 45

18.

FINANCIAL CONTROLS AND PROCUREMENT

a.

The Council shall consider and approve financial regulations drawn up by the Responsible
Financial Officer, which shall include detailed arrangements in respect of the following:
i.

the keeping of accounting records and systems of internal controls;

ii.

the assessment and management of financial risks faced by the Council;

iii.
the work of the independent internal auditor in accordance with proper practices and the
receipt of regular reports from the internal auditor, which shall be required at least annually;
iv.
the inspection and copying by councillors and local electors of the Council’s accounts
and/or orders of payments; and
v.
procurement policies, including the setting of values for different procedures where the
contract has an estimated value as specified in the Financial Regulations.
b.

Financial regulations shall be reviewed regularly and at least annually for fitness of purpose.

c.

Any expenditure incurred by the Council shall be in accordance with the Financial Regulations.

d.

The Council’s Financial Regulations may make provision for the authorisation of the payment of
money in exercise of any of the Council’s functions to be delegated to a committee, subcommittee or to an employee.

e.

A public contract regulated by the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 with an estimated
value in excess of £25,000 but less than the relevant thresholds in standing order 18(h) is
subject to Regulations 109-114 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 which include a
requirement on the Council to advertise the contract opportunity on the Contracts Finder
website regardless of what other means it uses to advertise the opportunity, unless it
proposes to use an existing list of preferred suppliers (“framework agreement”).

f.

Subject to additional requirements in the financial regulations of the Council, the tender process
for contracts for the supply of goods, materials, services or the execution of works shall include,
as a minimum, the following steps:
i.
up;

a specification for the goods, materials, services or the execution of works shall be drawn

ii.
an invitation to tender shall be drawn up to confirm (i) the Council’s specification (ii) the
time, date and address for the submission of tenders (iii) the date of the Council’s written
response to the tender and (iv) the prohibition on prospective contractors contacting councillors
or staff to encourage or support their tender outside the prescribed process;
iii.
the invitation to tender shall be advertised in a local newspaper and/or in any other manner
that is appropriate;
iv.
tenders are to be submitted in writing in a sealed marked envelope addressed to the Proper
Officer;
v.
tenders shall be opened by the Proper Officer in the presence of at least one councillor
after the deadline for submission of tenders has passed;

Page
2246

vi.
tenders are to be reported to and considered by the appropriate meeting of the Council or
a committee or sub-committee with delegated responsibility.
g.

Neither the Council, nor a committee or a sub-committee with delegated responsibility for
considering tenders, is bound to accept the lowest value tender.

h.

A public contract regulated by the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 with an estimated
value in excess of £181,302 for a public service or supply contract or in excess of
£4,551,413 for a public works contract (or other thresholds determined by the European
Commission every two years and published in the Official Journal of the European Union
(OJEU)) shall comply with the relevant procurement procedures and other requirements
in the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 which include advertising the contract
opportunity on the Contracts Finder website and in OJEU.

i.

A public contract in connection with the supply of gas, heat, electricity, drinking water,
transport services, or postal services to the public; or the provision of a port or airport; or
the exploration for or extraction of gas, oil or solid fuel with an estimated value in excess
of £363,424 for a supply, services or design contract; or in excess of £4,551,413 for a works
contract; or £820,370 for a social and other specific services contract (or other thresholds
determined by the European Commission every two years and published in OJEU) shall
comply with the relevant procurement procedures and other requirements in the Utilities
Contracts Regulations 2016.

19.

HANDLING STAFF MATTERS

a

A matter personal to a member of staff that is being considered by a meeting of Council a
Committee or a sub-committee is subject to standing order 11.

b

Staff sickness absence, performance appraisals and grievance matters shall be dealt with in
accordance with adopted Town Council policies and procedures and where
appropriate/necessary, will be reported back to the relevant Committee or Sub-Committee.

c

Any persons responsible for all or part of the management of staff shall treat as confidential the
written records of all meetings relating to their performance, capabilities, grievance or disciplinary
matters.

d

In accordance with standing order 11(a), persons with line management responsibilities shall
have access to staff records referred to in standing order 19(c).

e

Three Councillors shall be appointed by the Personnel Sub-Committee to undertake the annual
appraisal of the Town Clerk, in accordance with the Council’s adopted Appraisal Procedure.

20.

RESPONSIBILITIES TO PROVIDE INFORMATION
See also standing order 21.

a

In accordance with freedom of information legislation, the Council shall publish
information in accordance with its publication scheme and respond to requests for
information held by the Council (in accordance with its adopted policies and procedures).

Page
23 47

b

The Council, shall publish information in accordance with the requirements of the Local
Government (Transparency Requirements) (England) Regulations 2015.

21.

RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER DATA PROTECTION LEGISLATION
(Below is not an exclusive list).
See also standing order 11.

a

The Council shall have policies and procedures in place to respond to an individual
exercising statutory rights concerning his/her personal data.

b

The Council shall have a written policy in place for responding to and managing a personal
data breach.

c

The Council shall keep a record of all personal data breaches comprising the facts relating
to the personal data breach, its effects and the remedial action taken.

d

The Council shall ensure that information communicated in its privacy notice(s) is in an
easily accessible and available form and kept up to date.

e

The Council shall maintain a written record of its processing activities.

22.

RELATIONS WITH THE PRESS/MEDIA

a

Requests from the press or other media for an oral or written comment or statement from the
Council, its councillors or staff shall be handled in accordance with the Council’s policy in respect
of dealing with the press and/or other media.

23.

EXECUTION AND SEALING OF LEGAL DEEDS
See also standing orders 15(b)(xi) and (xvi).

a

A legal deed shall not be executed on behalf of the Council unless authorised by a resolution.

b

Subject to standing order 23(a), any two councillors may sign, on behalf of the Council,
any deed required by law and the Proper Officer shall witness their signatures.
The above is applicable to a Council without a common seal.

24.

COMMUNICATING WITH DISTRICT AND COUNTY OR UNITARY COUNCILLORS

a

An invitation to attend a meeting of the Council shall be sent, together with the agenda, to the
ward councillor(s) of the Unitary Council representing the area of the Council.

b

Unless the Council determines otherwise, a copy of each letter sent to the Unitary Council shall
be sent to the ward councillor(s) representing the area of the Council.

Page
2448

25.

RESTRICTIONS ON COUNCILLOR ACTIVITIES

a.

Unless duly authorised no councillor shall:
i. inspect any land and/or premises which the Council has a right or duty to inspect; or
ii. issue orders, instructions or directions.

26.

STANDING ORDERS GENERALLY

a.

All or part of a standing order, except one that incorporates mandatory statutory or legal
requirements, may be suspended by resolution in relation to the consideration of an item on the
agenda for a meeting.

b.

A motion to add to or vary or revoke one or more of the Council’s standing orders, except one
that incorporates mandatory statutory or legal requirements, shall, when proposed and seconded,
stand adjourned without discussion until the next ordinary meeting of the Council.

c.

The Proper Officer shall provide a copy of the Council’s standing orders to a councillor as soon
as possible.

d.

The decision of the Chair of a meeting as to the application of standing orders at the meeting
shall be final.

e.

A Councillors’s failure to observe standing orders more than three times in any one meeting may
result in him/her being excluded from the meeting.

27.

QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS

a.

A councillor may seek an answer to a question concerning any business of the Council provided
3 clear working days’ notice of the question has been given to the Proper Officer.
A Councillor may ask the Chairman of the Council any question or make a request to make a
statement on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects
the parish, provided that notice in writing has been submitted to the Proper Officer at least 3 clear
working days prior to the date/time of the meeting.

b.

Questions or statements not related to items of business on the agenda for a meeting shall only
be asked during the part of the Council meeting set aside for such questions.

c.

Every question shall be put and answered without discussion. An answer may take the form of:
i)
ii)
iii)

A direct oral answer.
Where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other published work, a
reference to that publication, or
Where the reply cannot conveniently be given orally, a written answer circulated later to
the questioner within 10 working days.

Page
25 49

d.

The question or statement asked by the Councillor will be the question or statement submitted to
the Proper Officer.

e.

Any question or statement made by a Councillor with the consent of the Chair should not exceed
3 minutes.

28.

POLITICAL GROUPS

a.

Councillors shall as soon as possible after being elected or co-opted, notify the Town Clerk to
which Political Group, if any, they wish to belong.

b.

A “political group” comprises two or more members who give written notice of their wish to be
treated as a group. It must have a Leader and may have another person authorised to act in
place of the Leader. No person can be a member of more than one group.

c.

The Political Groups will notify the Town Clerk of those Councillors appointed as Leader, Deputy
Leader or representative of each Group.

d.

If a member of a political party or an independent Councillor moves a motion or a resolution
where that Member is the sole representative of that party, the motion or resolution shall be
deemed to have been automatically seconded (SO 1u).

e.

The Proper Officer shall ensure that adequate communication channels exist with all political
groups.

29.

PROPORTIONAL REPRESENTATION

a.

Allocation of seats on Committees or Sub-Committees (referred to as bodies) of LeightonLinslade Town Council to be made on a proportional basis, unless agreed, without dissent,
otherwise at the Annual Council Meeting. The rules determining allocation shall be those used,
by statute, for principal Councils.

b.

A determination of the allocation of seats may take place annually at the Annual Meeting of the
Town Council, or when it becomes apparent that it is necessary to do so. Determination, as far
as is reasonably practical, must give effect to the following principles:
i)
ii)
iii)

iv)

c.

That not all seats of the body to which appointments are made are allocated to the same
political group.
That the majority of seats on the body are allocated to a particular political group if the
number of persons belonging to that group are a majority of the authority’s membership.
Subject to i) and ii), that the total number of seats on all the ordinary Committees of the
Council allocated to a particular political group, reflects that group’s proportion of the
membership of the Town Council.
Subject to i) and ii), that the number of seats on each body allocated to a particular political
group reflects that group’s proportion of the membership of the Town Council.

Any single members who are not part of a political group should not be excluded from
membership of bodies within the Town Council. Allocation of seats to such members should be
by agreement between the political parties and must have regard to the principles stated above.

Page
2650

30.

ESTIMATES/PRECEPTS

a.

The Council shall approve written estimates for the coming financial year.

b.

Any committee desiring to incur expenditure shall give the Proper Officer a written estimate of
the expenditure recommended for the coming year.

31.

CANVASSING OF AND RECOMMENDATIONS BY COUNCILLORS

a.

Canvassing councillors or the members of a committee or sub-committee, directly or indirectly,
for a staffing appointment to or by the Council, shall disqualify the candidate from such an
appointment. The Proper Officer shall disclose the requirements of this standing order to every
candidate applying for a staffing appointment.

b.

A councillor or a member of a committee or sub-committee shall not solicit a person for a staffing
appointment to or by the Council, or recommend a person for such appointment or for promotion;
but, nevertheless, any such person may give a written testimonial of a candidate’s ability,
experience or character for submission to the Council with an application for appointment.

c.

If a candidate for any appointment under the Council is, to their knowledge, related to any
Member or the holder of any office under the Council, they and the person to whom they are
related shall disclose the relationship in writing to the Town Clerk. A candidate who fails to do so
shall be disqualified for such appointment or, if appointed, may be dismissed without notice. The
Town Clerk shall report to the Council or to the appropriate Committee any such disclosure.
Where relationship to a Member is disclosed, Standing Order Nos 13 and 15 (b) (vii) shall apply
as appropriate.

d.

This standing order shall apply to tenders as if the person making the tender were a candidate
for an appointment.

32.

INSPECTION OF DOCUMENTS

a.

Subject to standing orders to the contrary or in respect of matters which are confidential, a
councillor may, for the purpose of his/her official duties (but not otherwise), inspect any document
in possession of the Council or a committee or a sub-committee, and request a copy for the same
purpose.

b.

The minutes of meetings of the Council, its committees and sub-committees shall be available
for inspection by councillors and the public.

33.

CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS

a.

Councillors and employees shall not disclose information given in confidence or which they
believe, or ought to be aware, is of a confidential nature.

b.

A councillor in breach of the provisions of standing order 32 (a) above may be removed from a
committee or a sub-committee by resolution of the Council.

34.

GENERAL POWER OF COMPETENCE

Page
27 51

a. Before exercising the General Power of Competence, the Council must resolve at a meeting
of the Council and each subsequent relevant annual meeting that it meets the conditions in
paragraph b below.
b.

At the time a resolution under paragraph a is passed:
(i) The number of ordinary members of the council that have been declared to be elected,
whether at ordinary elections or at a by-election, is equal or greater than two-thirds of the
total number of members of the council;
(ii) The clerk to the parish council holds one of: the Certificate in Local Council
Administration, the Certificate of Higher Education in Local Policy, the Certificate of Higher
Education in Local Council Administration or the first level of the foundation degree in
Community Engagement and Governance awarded by the University of Gloucestershire or
its successor qualifications; and
(iii) The clerk to the parish council has completed the relevant training, unless such training
was required for the purpose of obtaining a qualification of a description mentioned in
paragraph b. “Relevant training” means training provided in the exercise of general power;
or provided in accordance with the national training strategy for parish councils adopted by
the National Association of Local Councils, as revised from time to time.

35.

CO-OPTION

a.

In the event of a co-option arising to fill a casual vacancy caused by the death, resignation or
disqualification of a Councillor, the Council’s current policy shall apply.

Page
2852

Agenda Item 15

TACTIC

SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN &
YOUNG PEOPLE POLICY

1

STATEMENT

1.1

The Town Council recognises the importance of its services to children and young
people and its responsibility to protect and safeguard the welfare of children and young
people. Making sure that all necessary steps are taken in the event of a disclosure.

1.2

The Organisation is committed to:


Valuing, listening to and respecting children and young people as well as
promoting their welfare and protection.

•

Adopting child protection and safeguarding best practice through our policies,
procedures and code of conduct for staff and volunteers. Providing effective
management for staff and volunteers through supervision, support, training, and
quality assurance measures so that all staff and volunteers know about and
follow our policies, procedures, and behavior codes confidently and
competently.



Recruiting and selecting staff and volunteers safely, ensuring all necessary
checks are made.



Recording, storing, and using information professionally and securely, in line
with data protection legislation and guidance.



Sharing information about safeguarding and good practice with young people
and their families via leaflets, posters, group work and one-to-one discussions



Adopting procedure for dealing with concerns about possible abuse.



Supporting those affected by abuse.



Maintaining good links with the statutory childcare authorities and other young
people’s organisations.

,

Page 53

[Type here]


Using our safeguarding and child protection procedures to share concerns and
Relevant information with agencies who need to know, and involving children,
young people, parents, families, and careers appropriately.



Making sure that young people and their families know where to go for help if
they have a concern.



using our procedures to manage any allegations against staff and volunteers.
appropriately.



ensuring that we provide a safe physical environment for our, young people.
staff and Volunteers, by applying health and safety measures in accordance.
with the law and regulatory guidance



Building a safeguarding culture where staff and volunteers, children, young
people and their families, treat each other with respect and are comfortable.
about sharing concerns.



Ensuring all members of staff has access to the current legislation of
Safeguarding Children.

2

ORGANISATION POLICY

2.1

The Town Council recognises the need to provide a safe and caring environment for
children and young people. It also acknowledges that young people can be the victims
of physical, sexual and emotional abuse, and neglect. It has, therefore, adopted the
procedures set out in this document (hereinafter “the policy”) and recognises the need
to build constructive links with statutory and voluntary child protection agencies.

2.2

The Town Council is committed to on-going Safeguarding children training for all youth
workers and will regularly review its operational guidelines.

2.3

The Town Council will work in accordance with the current legislation: What to do if
you are worried a child is being abused. (DfES 2006). LSCB Bedfordshire, Working
together to Safeguard Children (2006).

3

WHAT IS SAFEGUARDING?

3.1

Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children means:





3.2

Protecting children from mistreatment
Preventing impairment of children’s health or growth
Ensuring that children are growing up in circumstances consistent with the
provision of safe and effective care; and
Undertaking that role to enable those children to have optimum life chances.

Child abuse falls into four categories

Page 54

[Type here]





Physical
Sexual
Emotional
Neglect

4

RESPONDING TO DISCLOSURE OF ABUSE

4.1

Under no circumstances should any Town Council Officer carry out their own
investigation into the allegation or suspicion of abuse. The person in receipt of
allegations or suspicions of abuse will do the following:


React in a calm and non-judgemental way



Never promise complete confidentiality, advising the child or young persons that the
officer will have to share the information that they are given onto a third party for
example to Social Services.



Listen to what the child or young person has to say and ask appropriate and open
questions, making sure not to ask leading question as this could jeopardise a police
investigation.



Never probe the child, young persons for information.



Ensure that the child, young person/s understand what they are told by the
professional, using appropriate language.



Report concerns as soon as possible to the Manager who has undergone appropriate
training to deal with the allegation or suspicion of neglect or abuse, including referring
the matter on to the statutory authorities.



In the absence of the TACTIC Manager, or if the suspicions in any way involve them,
then the report should be made to the TACTIC Senior Youth Worker (SYW). If the
suspicions implicate both these people, then the report should be made directly to
Social Services with the support of the Deputy Town Clerk or Town Clerk. (Tel no.
01525 631920)



Discuss concerns with the YP Parent/Carer if appropriate.



Record discussion with YP in THEIR WORDS, do not elaborate or correct grammar.
Maintain relationship with YP where appropriate. Record each contact for chronology.



Children’s Specialist Services – 0300 300 8149



Social Care out of hours and at weekends – 08702 385465



Any telephone referrals must be followed up in writing within 48 hours.
It is, of course, the right of any individual as a citizen to make a direct referral to the
child protection agencies or to seek advice from Social Services should they feel it is

Page 55

[Type here]
appropriate. It is Social Services’ task to investigate the matter under Section 47 of the
Children Act 1989.

5

DISCLOSURE OF PHYSICAL, EMOTIONAL ABUSE OR NEGLECT

5.1

If a child has a physical injury, a symptom of neglect or emotional abuse, the RO/SSW
will:


Contact Social Services to seek advice in cases of deliberate injury, if
concerned about a child’s safety or if a child is afraid to return home.



Seek medical help if needed urgently, informing the doctor of any suspicions.

6

DISCLOSURE OF SEXUAL ABUSE

6.1

In the event of allegations or suspicions of sexual abuse, the RO/SSW will:

7



Contact the Social Services Department Duty Social Worker for children and
families or Police Child Protection Team direct to seek their advice.



Seek medical help if needed urgently, informing the doctor of any suspicions.

APPOINTMENT, SUPPORT, SUPERVISION AND TRAINING OF LEADERS AND
WORKERS

7.1 The Organisation will ensure all workers will be appointed, trained, supported, and
supervised in accordance with the principles set out in government guidelines Recruiting
safely, Children’s Workforce Development Council (2009). The Organisation will also
ensure that all workers paid or voluntary will have an enhanced CRB Check and work in
accordance with the Vetting and Barring Scheme.

ADOPTED BY COUNCIL ……………………………DATE

This policy was last reviewed on:
…………………………………………………………………………(date)
Signed:
…………………………………………………………………………
[this should be signed by the
most senior person with responsibility for safeguarding in your organisation, for example the
safeguarding lead on your board of trustees]
Date: …………………………………………………………………………

Page 56

Ethical Conduct in
Youth Work
a statement of values and
principles from
The National Youth Agency
Reprinted December 2004

Eastgate House, 19–23 Humberstone Road,
Leicester LE5 3GJ.
Tel: 0116 242 7350. Fax: 0116 242 7444.
E-mail: nya@nya.org.uk Website: www.nya.org.uk

Page 57

Ethical Conduct in Youth Work

Background
During Autumn 1999 The National Youth Agency circulated a discussion document,
Ethics in Youth Work1.This contained a draft statement of principles of ethical conduct
for youth work, and sought responses from the ﬁeld via a questionnaire and two
consultative seminars. The statement has now been revised and can be found in section
5 of this document. It takes into account comments made in the questionnaire returns
and the seminars. Whilst there was a variety of opinions about the exact wording of
the statement, there was a general consensus of opinion that a statement should be
developed and adopted, and that this should remain at the level of general principles,
rather than giving detailed guidance on the conduct of practitioners (Banks,2000)2.
While there have been some calls for a longer, more detailed and rule-based code
of conduct, this would be difﬁcult to apply to all types of youth workers working in
different settings and agencies. It might also be so prescriptive as to curtail the professional
freedom and responsibility of the youth worker. Whilst the statement of principles
presented here leaves some concepts unexplored (we may well ask, what do we
mean by ‘justice’, when is an interest ‘legitimate’?), its aim is primarily to develop ethical
awareness and to encourage reﬂection as the basis for ethical conduct rather than to tell
youth workers exactly how to act in particular cases. More detailed documents on certain
issues (such as what levels of risk are appropriate, how to handle conﬂicts of interest), and
guidelines on particular aspects of professional practice (such as conﬁdentiality, handling
suspected cases of abuse) could be provided to supplement the statement of principles.
These would come better from individual employers or organisations to ﬁt particular
local circumstances or age groups. And/or some bodies may wish to produce a shorter
version of this text.
The statement of principles is in section 5 of this document. Sections 1 to 4 offer
some background comments on the nature and purpose of youth work, the
importance of ethics in youth work, the purpose of the statement of principles and
a short summary of the principles.

1
2

The National Youth Agency (October 1999) Ethics in Youth Work, Leicester,
The NYA.
Banks, S. (2000) Report to The National Youth Agency on Ethics in Youth Work,
Durham, Community and Youth Work Studies Unit, University of Durham.

2
The National Youth Agency Statement of Principles

Page 58

Ethical Conduct in Youth Work

1 The nature and purpose of youth work
1.1. The purpose of youth work is to facilitate and support young people’s growth
through dependence to interdependence, by encouraging their personal and
social development and enabling them to have a voice, inﬂuence and place in
their communities and society.
1.2. Youth work is informed by a set of beliefs which include a commitment to equal
opportunity, to young people as partners in learning and decision-making and to
helping young people to develop their own sets of values. We recognise youth
work by these qualities (based on Davies 19963):
• it offers its services in places where young people can choose to participate;
• it encourages young people to be critical in their responses to their own
experience and to the world around them;
• it works with young people to help them make informed choices about their
personal responsibilities within their communities;
• it works alongside school and college-based education to encourage young
people to achieve and fulﬁl their potential; and
• it works with other agencies to encourage society to be responsive to young
people’s needs.

3

Davies, B. (1996) ‘At your service?’ Young People Now, August, pp26 to 27.
3
Page
59
The National Youth Agency Statement of Principles

Ethical Conduct in Youth Work

2 The importance of ethics in youth work
2.1. Ethics is generally regarded as being about the norms of behaviour people follow
regarding what is good or bad, right or wrong. Usually ethical issues are about
matters of human (and animal) wellbeing or welfare.
2.2. Ethics in the context of professional practice is about:
• developing the ability of practitioners to see the ethical dimensions of
problems, to reﬂect on issues, to take difﬁcult decisions and to be able to
justify these decisions; and
• acting with integrity according to one’s responsibilities and duties (this may
entail behaving in accordance with professional principles, guidelines or
agency rules).
2.3. The behaviour of everyone involved in youth work and youth services – political
and managerial leaders, managers, trustees, employees, volunteers and
participants – must be of a standard that makes it the basis of:
• the effective delivery of services;
• modelling appropriate behaviour to young people;
• trust between workers and young people;
• trust between organisations and services and parents and young people;
• a willingness of various parties to commit resources; and
• a belief in the capacity of youth work to help young people themselves learn
to make moral decisions and take effective action.
2.4. This requires all involved to be capable of appropriate thinking about ethics
in practical situations.

4
The National Youth Agency Statement of Principles

Page 60

Ethical Conduct in Youth Work

3 Purpose of the statement of principles
3.1. The statement in section 5 outlines the basic principles underpinning the work
with the aim of guiding the conduct of youth workers and managers and to serve
as a focus for debate and discussion about ethical issues in practice. It is not a
rulebook prescribing exactly what youth workers should do in every situation.
This would be impossible to achieve, due to the variety of practice settings,
age groups and types of work. Rather the statement is intended to be used
as a starting point for outlining the broad principles of ethical conduct; raising
awareness of the multiple responsibilities of youth workers (paid and voluntary)
and their managers and the potential for conﬂict or at least tension between
these responsibilities; and for encouraging and stimulating ethical reﬂection and
debate.
3.2. The ﬁrst part of the statement covers ‘ethical principles’ which include the way
that youth workers should treat the young people they work with (for example,
with respect for their rights to make choices, without discrimination) and the
kinds of values that youth workers are working towards (such as a just society).
The second part of the statement covers ‘professional principles’ which relate
more particularly to how the youth worker should act in the role of a practitioner
with certain types of responsibility and accountability.The practice principles listed
under each general principle are more speciﬁc, suggesting how youth workers
would apply the broader ethical and professional principles. They are not
exhaustive.
3.3. Note: the term ‘youth worker’ in this statement is intended to include
those who work in youth work directly with young people and people who
manage those working directly with young people.The phrase ‘professional’
is to denote acceptance of a particular role within the ‘profession’ of
youthwork, not necessarily the employment status of the individual who
may well, for example, be a volunteer.

5
Page
61
The National Youth Agency Statement of Principles

Ethical Conduct in Youth Work

4 Summary of the statement of principles of ethical
conduct for youth work

Ethical principles
Youth workers have a commitment to:
1. Treat young people with respect, valuing each individual and avoiding
negative discrimination.
2. Respect and promote young people’s rights to make their own
decisions and choices, unless the welfare or legitimate interests of themselves
or others are seriously threatened.
3. Promote and ensure the welfare and safety of young people, while
permitting them to learn through undertaking challenging educational activities.
4. Contribute towards the promotion of social justice for young people and
in society generally, through encouraging respect for difference and diversity and
challenging discrimination.

Professional principles
Youth workers have a commitment to:
5. Recognise the boundaries between personal and professional life and
be aware of the need to balance a caring and supportive relationship with young
people with appropriate professional distance.
6. Recognise the need to be accountable to young people, their parents or
guardians, colleagues, funders, wider society and others with a relevant interest in
the work, and that these accountabilities may be in conﬂict.
7. Develop and maintain the required skills and competence to do the
job.
8. Work for conditions in employing agencies where these principles are
discussed, evaluated and upheld.
6
The National Youth Agency Statement of Principles

Page 62

Ethical Conduct in Youth Work

5 Statement of principles of ethical conduct
for youth work
5.1.

Ethical principles. Youth workers have a commitment to:

5.1.1. Treat young people with respect
Practice principles would include:
• valuing each young person and acting in a way that does not exploit
or negatively discriminate against certain young people on irrelevant
grounds such as ‘race’, religion, gender, ability or sexual orientation;
and
• explaining the nature and limits of conﬁdentiality and recognising that
conﬁdential information clearly entrusted for one purpose should not
be used for another purpose without the agreement of the young
person – except where there is clear evidence of danger to the
young person, worker, other persons or the community.

5.1.2. Respect and promote young people’s rights to make their
own decisions and choices
Practice principles would include:
• raising young people’s awareness of the range of decisions and
choices open to them and offering opportunities for discussion and
debate on the implications of particular choices;
• offering learning opportunities for young people to develop their
capacities and conﬁdence in making decisions and choices through
participation in decision-making bodies and working in partnership
with youth workers in planning activities; and
• respecting young people’s own choices and views, unless the
welfare or legitimate interests of themselves or other people are
seriously threatened.

7
Page
63
The National Youth Agency Statement of Principles

Ethical Conduct in Youth Work
5.1.3. Promote and ensure the welfare and safety of young
people
Practice principles would include:
• taking responsibility for assessing risk and managing the safety of
work and activities involving young people;
• ensuring their own competence, and that of employees and
volunteers for whom they are responsible, to undertake areas of
work and activities;
• warning the appropriate authority, and taking action, if there are
thought to be risks or dangers attached to the work;
• drawing to the attention of their employer and, if this proves
ineffective, bringing to the attention of those in power or, ﬁnally, the
general public, ways in which activities or policies of employers may
be seriously harmful to the interests and safety of young people; and
• being aware of the need to strike a balance between avoiding
unnecessary risk and permitting and encouraging young people to
partake in challenging educational activities.

5.1.4. Contribute towards the promotion of social justice for young
people and in society generally
Practice principles would include:
• promoting just and fair behaviour, and challenging discriminatory
actions and attitudes on the part of young people, colleagues and
others;
• encouraging young people to respect and value difference and
diversity, particularly in the context of a multi-cultural society;
• drawing attention to unjust policies and practices and actively seeking
to change them;
• promoting the participation of all young people, and particularly
those who have traditionally been discriminated against, in youth
work, in public structures and in society generally; and
• encouraging young people and others to work together collectively
on issues of common concern.

8
The National Youth Agency Statement of Principles

Page 64

Ethical Conduct in Youth Work
5.2.

Professional principles. Youth workers have a commitment to:

5.2.1. Recognise the boundaries between personal and
professional life
Practice principles would include:
• recognising the tensions between developing supportive and
caring relationships with young people and the need to maintain an
appropriate professional distance;
• taking care not to develop close personal, particularly sexual,
relationships with the young people they are working with as
this may be against the law, exploitative or result in preferential
treatment. If such a relationship does develop, the youth worker
concerned should report this to the line manager to decide on
appropriate action;
• not engaging in work-related activities for personal gain, or accepting
gifts or favours from young people or local people that may
compromise the professional integrity of the work; and
• taking care that behaviour outside work does not undermine the
conﬁdence of young people and the public in youth work.

5.2.2. Recognise the need to be accountable to young people, their
parents or guardians, employers, funders, wider society and
other people with a relevant interest in the work
Practice principles would include:
• recognising that accountabilities to different groups may conﬂict
and taking responsibility for seeking appropriate advice and making
decisions in cases of conﬂict;
• being open and honest in all dealings with young people, enabling
them to access information to make choices and decisions in their
lives generally and in relation to participation in youth work activities;
• ensuring that actions as a youth worker are in accordance with the
law;
• ensuring that resources under youth workers’ control are distributed
fairly, according to criteria for which youth workers are accountable,
and that work undertaken is as effective as possible;
• reporting to the appropriate authority any suspicions relating to a
9
Page
65
The National Youth Agency Statement of Principles

Ethical Conduct in Youth Work
young person being at risk of serious harm or danger, particularly of
sexual or physical abuse; and
• actively seeking opportunities to collaborate with colleagues and
professionals from other agencies.

5.2.3. Develop and maintain the skills and competence required to
do the job
Practice principles would include:
• only undertaking work or taking on responsibilities for which workers
have the necessary skills, knowledge and support;
• seeking feedback from service users and colleagues on the quality of
their work and constantly updating skills and knowledge; and
• recognising when new skills and knowledge are required and seeking
relevant education and training.

5.2.4. Foster and engage in ethical debate in youth work
Practice principles would include:
• developing awareness of youth workers’ own personal values and
how these relate to the ethical principles of youth work as stated in
section 5.1;
• re-examining these principles, engaging in reﬂection and discussion
with colleagues and contributing to the learning of the organisation
where they work;
• developing awareness of the potential for conﬂict between personal
and professional values, as well as between the interests and rights
of different individuals and between the ethical principles in this
statement; and
• recognising the importance of continuing reﬂection and debate and
seeing this statement of ethical principles as a working document
which should be constantly under discussion.

10
The National Youth Agency Statement of Principles

Page 66

Ethical Conduct in Youth Work
5.2.5. Work for conditions in employing agencies where these
principles are discussed, evaluated and upheld
Practice principles would include:
• ensuring that colleagues, employers and young people are aware of
the statement of principles;
• being prepared to discuss difﬁcult ethical issues in the light of these
principles and contributing towards interpreting and elaborating on
the practice principles; and
• being prepared to challenge colleagues or employing agencies
whose actions or policies are contrary to the principles in this
statement.

11
Page
67
The National Youth Agency Statement of Principles

Ethical Conduct in Youth Work

Ethical Conduct in Youth Work
a statement of values and principles from
The National Youth Agency
‘Youth workers are employed increasingly in a range of different settings and it is
important that they can operate conﬁdently within a clear set of ethical principles. This
text provides exactly that. It is based on wide consultation and consideration within the
youth work ﬁeld, including The National Youth Agency’s Executive Board – the most
representative body for youth work in all its forms. We now have a clear, consensual and
strongly supported statement of youth work’s values and principles which will serve the
profession well.’
Tom Wylie, Chief Executive, The National Youth Agency

£2.00
First published by The National Youth Agency, Summer 2000.
Reprinted December 2004.

This document is also available for free
download on The NYA website at:
www.nya.org.uk

Eastgate House, 19–23 Humberstone Road, Leicester LE5 3GJ.
Tel: 0116 242 7350. Fax: 0116 242 7444.
E-mail: nya@nya.org.uk Website: www.nya.org.uk

Page 68

RESPONDING TO DISCLOSURE OF ABUSE
Under no circumstances should any Town Council Officer carry out their own investigation into the
allegation or suspicion of abuse. The person in receipt of allegations or suspicions of abuse will do the
following:
React in a calm and non-judgemental way

Never promise complete confidentiality, advising the child or young persons that the officer will have
to share the information that they are given onto a third party for example to Social Services.

Listen to what the child or young person has to say and ask appropriate and open questions, making
sure not to ask leading question as this could jeopardise a police investigation.

Never probe the child, young persons for information.

Ensure that the child, young person/s understand what they are told by the professional, using
appropriate language.

Report concerns as soon as possible to the Manager who has undergone appropriate training to deal
with the allegation or suspicion of neglect or abuse, including referring the matter on to the statutory
authorities.

In the absence of the Manager, or if the suspicions in any way involve them, then the report should
be made to the Senior Youth Worker (SYW). If the suspicions implicate both these people, then the
report should be made directly to Social Services with the support of the Deputy Town Clerk or Town
Clerk. (Tel no. 01525 631920)
Discuss concerns with the YP Parent/Carer if appropriate
Record discussion with YP in THEIR WORDS, don’t elaborate or correct grammar. Maintain
relationship with YP where appropriate. Record each contact for chronology.



Children’s Specialist Services – 0300 300 8149
Social Care out of hours and at weekends – 08702 385465
Intake and Assessment – 01582 818499
Bedfordshire
Policemust
number
– 01582 401212
Any telephone referrals
be followed
up in writing within 48 hours.

It is, of course, the right of any individual as a citizen to make a direct referral to the child
protection agencies or to seek advice from Social Services should they feel it is appropriate. It
is Social Services’ task to investigate the matter under Section 47 of the Children Act 1989.

Page 69

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 70

Y

2

South
Bedfordshire
Friends of the
Earth

To purchase litter picking
equipment for use by volunteer
litter picking working parties

£474.84

N

Y

N

Y

3

Buzzcycles

To purchase a gazebo to
provide Dr Bike services at
different locations

£380

N

Y

N

Y

Page 71
4

Challenging
Behaviour
Counselling

To provide 5 “wild days”
workshops for children aged 314yrs at a community garden
project located at Tilsworth
allotments

£500

N

Y
*

N

Y*

Y

Y

Y

Y

N

N/A

Y

Y

Y

Y

N

N/A

Y

Y

Y

Y

N

N/A

Y

Y

Y

Y

N

N/A

Y

Y

Y

Notes

N

If school/PTA must have own bank
account and constitution

Y

Constitution/rules included

N

Bank account with 2 signatories

£500

Annual accounts or statement of income
- inc

Clear aims and objectives – clear benefit
to LL community

To replace Hazel Hurdles
damaged by flooding

Clear financial need

Setup for Charitable purposes

Friends of
Tiddenfoot
Waterside Park

Supplied report or proof of expenditure
on previous grant received?

Non profit/benefit LL community

1

Received a grant in 2020-2021?

Amount
Applied
For

Is proposed project in line with LLTC
vision & objectives as set out in its Five
Year Plan, Environmental Ambitions or
Equalities statement??

Project

NO

*Unincorporated Not for
profit Foundation based in
Dunstable providing mental
health support services.
This project is for L-L and
surrounding rural areas,
approx. 50% expected to
be L-L residents.

Agenda Item 16

Group

Start up group

1st round Applications for General Grants for 2021-2022

Y

Heath Band

To create a new website to
attract new band members and
to promote performances to the
public.

£500

N

Y

Y

Y

To purchase tents for use by 1418 yr olds for scouting and Duke
of Edinburgh expeditions

£500

N

Y

Y

Y

6

7

Phoenix
Explorer
Scouts

£3,331.
84

Y

Y

Y

N

N/A

Y

Y

Y

Y

N

N/A

Y

Y

Y

Y

N

N/A

Y

Y

Y

Y

Notes

Y

If school/PTA must have own bank
account and constitution

Y

Constitution/rules included

N

Bank account with 2 signatories

Clear aims and objectives – clear benefit
to LL community

£477

Annual accounts or statement of income inc

Setup for Charitable purposes

To purchase 2 gazebos to allow
a support group for adults with
additional needs to meet safely
outdoors in light of Covid.

Clear financial need

Non profit/benefit LL community

5

Leighton
Buzzard
Mencap

Supplied report or proof of expenditure on
previous grant received?

Amount
Applied
For

Received a grant in 2020-2021?

Project

Is proposed project in line with LLTC vision
& objectives as set out in its Five Year
Plan?

Group

Page 72

NO

Start up group

1st round Applications for General Grants for 2021-2022

Page 73

Page 74

Page 75

Page 76

Page 77

Page 78

Page 79

Page 80

Page 81

Page 82

Page 83

Page 84

Page 85

Page 86

GENERAL GRANT PROCEDURES & GUIDANCE NOTES
Please read the information below in full before completing a General Grant
application form.

SECTION 1: GENERAL INFORMATION
The Town Council is empowered under legislation to offer community grant funding,
however terms and conditions apply. Please ensure you read the information below to
determine whether your organisation or project may be eligible before completing the
application form.
A. WHO MAY APPLY FOR GRANT FUNDING?
Voluntary groups, registered charities or individuals operating on a not for profit basis
for the benefit of the community in Leighton-Linslade. Organisations must have some
form of management committee or steering group and a bank account with at least
two signatories.
If your organisation has previously received a General grant from the Town Council, a
report on grant expenditure must have been provided before a new application can be
considered. Only one General Grant may be received per financial year.
Priority will be given to those organisations which can demonstrate a clear financial
need.
If your organisation is a branch of a larger organisation, it should have a separate
committee, constitution and bank account and a specific brief for activities benefitting
the community of Leighton-Linslade.
B. WHO MAY NOT APPLY FOR GRANT FUNDING?
Commercial operations or organisations which offer statutory obligations, for example
schools.
(School associations/PTAs may apply for a grant if the activity/project is extra
curricular, subject to funds being ring-fenced and applicants having a separate bank
account and constitution).
Organisations representing the arts and sports should apply separately to the
Leighton-Linslade Arts Forum or the Leighton-Linslade Sports Council.
C. HOW MUCH CAN BE APPLIED FOR?
Up to a maximum of £500. Start-up groups without two years of financial accounts
may apply for a start-up grant to a maximum amount of £250.
The amount of grant funding to be approved will be decided by Committee and may
be less than the amount requested.
D. WHAT TYPE OF PROJECTS CAN BE FUNDED?

Page 87

Leighton-Linslade Town Council: General Grant Guidance Notes

Page 1 of 4

Projects or activities which can be completed within a year and will directly benefit
residents of Leighton-Linslade. Priority may be given to projects or activities which
support the Town Council’s objectives and aspirations for the parish. The aims and
objectives of the project should be clear and well defined.
E. WHAT WILL NOT BE FUNDED?
General revenue costs; loan repayments; rent; rates, council tax or utilities; insurance
costs (other than public liability insurance); projects with high ongoing maintenance
costs (unless the group can demonstrate it has the funds/skills to maintain them in
future); religious or political groups (unless unrestricted community benefit can be
demonstrated); activities that are part of statutory obligations, for example curricular
activity in schools; activities that predominantly support people outside of LeightonLinslade; projects which have already been completed or items already purchased.
F. WHEN TO APPLY
The deadline for first round applications for the financial year 2021-2022 is close of
business (4:30pm) on Friday, 23 April 2021. Organisations which have already
received a grant for this financial year may not re-apply for further funding.
G. APPLICATION PROCEDURE
Applications will be considered by the Grants & Awards Sub-Committee at a meeting
to be held on Monday, 10 May 2021 at 1930 hours. The meeting is open to the public
and applicants are encouraged to attend. Applications will be assessed and decisions
taken regarding the amount of any grant award by the Sub-Committee based on the
available budget, the information provided, the benefit to the community and the
sustainability of the project.
Written confirmation of the decisions taken will be provided within ten days of the
meeting. Payment will normally be issued to successful applicants within a month of
the meeting.
H. TERMS AND CONDITIONS
If there is a serious breach of terms & conditions, if the group ceases to operate before
funds have been spent, or if a project does not proceed as planned, the grant will have
to be repaid.
Anyone found to be acting dishonestly in making the application or spending the grant
would be reported to the police and might face prosecution.
All applications will be considered by the relevant Committee, where decisions are
made to approve or refuse applications. The amount of grant funding to be approved
may be less than the amount requested. Meetings are open to members of the press
and public, with meeting minutes published on the Town Council’s website.
A grant may only be used for the purpose set out in the application form and it cannot
be given to any other group.
Recognition of any grant made by the Town Council must be made in any publicity
and in the group’s accounts.
The Town Council may ask you to attend the meeting at which the application will be
considered and/or to attend a reception to receive the cheque.

Page 88

Leighton-Linslade Town Council: General Grant Guidance Notes

Page 2 of 4

The Town Council reserves the right to amend any policy, procedures and assessment
criteria for grants at any time.

SECTION 2: GUIDANCE NOTES ON COMPLETING THE APPLICATION
FORM
SECTION 1: ORGANISATION AND APPLICANT DETAILS
Question Question
Guidance notes
no.
1-11

Organisation details

12

Independent referee

13-20

Financial details and
amount of grant funding
requested.

21 - 22.

Project details

Please ensure you have completed all fields
and provided accurate contact details for
the main contact person.
Organisations must be non-commercial and
primarily serve residents of Leighton
Buzzard and Linslade. Organisations must
have a constitution or agreed set of rules.
If your organisation is affiliated to a larger or
national organisation, please confirm
whether accounts are held separately.
If your organisation works with children or
vulnerable adults, please confirm that
relevant safeguarding policies are in place.
This should be someone who is familiar
with the organisation and/or project, but is
not a member/representative of that
organisation.
Referees will only be contacted if deemed
necessary by officers.
Please provide as much information as
possible. The grant does not need to be a
“rounded up” figure; if your organisation has
a specific quote, please enclose this and
specify the exact figure. We will consider
whether project costs are appropriate and
realistic.
Priority may be given to organisations which
can demonstrate their own fundraising
activity, additional sources of income for the
project and/or a contribution in kind (e.g.
volunteer time).
Organisations must have a separate bank
account with at least two signatories.
Payment of grant funding will be made by
cheque or bank transfer.
Please tell us clearly and concisely the
nature of your project/activity.
Projects should demonstrate a clear benefit
to residents of the parish.

Page 89

Leighton-Linslade Town Council: General Grant Guidance Notes

Page 3 of 4

Priority may be given to projects or activities
which will benefit a significant number of
residents or which support the Town
Council’s aims and aspirations for the
parish (please see the Town Council
website (publications page) for details of
documents such as the Big Plan or the Five
Year Plan 2019-2024).
23.

Project timescale

24.

Ongoing costs.

25-28.

Supporting documents

29-36.

Declaration and
signature

Please note that projects or activities
cannot be funded retrospectively. Please
only apply for funding if the project/activity
can be achieved within a year of receiving
grant funding.
Should the project require ongoing funding,
please demonstrate how the organisation
intends to achieve this.
Please ensure you enclose the required
documents with your application, or an
explanation as to why these cannot be
provided.
Accounts may be draft if not yet audited.
Start-up organisations without two years of
accounts should provide a copy bank
statement and a business plan.
The main contact person for the application
should initial each point and sign below.
The Town Council should be recognised in
the organisation’s accounts and in any
publicity concerning the project.
A report on grant expenditure should be
provided back to the Town Council within
twelve months of receiving the funds. A
template report will be provided to
successful applicants. The organisation
may also supply a copy of its annual report
and accounts, where appropriate.
By signing, you give permission for the
Town Council to retain and use the
information provided.
By signing, you acknowledge that you have
read and understood this guidance
document. We recommend that the
applicant keeps on file a copy of these
guidance notes for future reference.

Should you have any queries not answered above, please contact Leighton-Linslade
Town Council on 01525 631920.

Page 90

Leighton-Linslade Town Council: General Grant Guidance Notes

Page 4 of 4

Applications for Guaranteed Grants for 2020-21 until 2023-24
April 2020
Amount
approved

NO

Group

Project

1

L-L Arts Forum

£4000 would be used to continue the Grant Funding aspect
of our role for LLTC £1000 would be used to fund the
website & administration costs.

£4,450

2

Autism
Bedfordshire

To fund a youth group for young people with autism aged 10-17.

£820

3

Buzzer Buses
(Dial-a-Ride)
Ltd

To fund inspections every 10 weeks for 7 adapted minibuses, plus
wheelchair lift services every 6 months.

£4,100

4

Community
Action
Bedfordshire

Core activity funding £6,000
Community engagement work £3,000
Jazz up your Life funding £4,500 (reduced to £2,250 for 2021-22)

5

Cruse
Bereavement
Care Beds

To provide face to face, 1-1 and group support as well as
telephone support.

6

Freddie &
Friends
Sunshine Stop
C.I.C

To support the local additional needs community through
parent/carer coffee mornings (£400), creative group therapy
(£800), activity days (£792) and pay for accountancy fees
(£1500).

7

LeightonLinslade
Carnival

To cover necessary costs such as public liability insurance for the
annual Carnival and Picnic in the Park community events.

£1,500

8

The
Greensand
Trust

To pay for tools, equipment and support to facilitate Greensand
Trust volunteers in the Leighton-Linslade area.

£800

To support the provision of free services for adults and children
with life limiting conditions, including pre and post bereavement
support.

£2,000

9

10

11

Keech Hospice
Care

Home-Start
Central
Bedfordshire

Macmillan
Cancer
Support

To support vulnerable families in Leighton-Linslade through
recruiting, training and supervising a team of volunteers.

To help fund Macmillan professionals in Bedfordshire and provide
financial assistance to local people living with cancer

Page 91

£6,000
(remainder deferred
to Nov meeting)

£500

£1,992

£1,500

£750

12

13

14

15

Meadow Way
Community
Association
Rotary Club
Yes We Can
programme
LeightonLinslade &
District Sports
Council
Town
Twinning
Forum

For repairs and maintenance to the community centre which is
used by many groups for different purposes.

£2,500

To support the continued provision of disabled sports including
tennis, establishing a multi-sport club and expanding outreach
work.

£1,500

To provide grant funding to members (16 sports clubs covering 12
sports with 2500 members), support website

£6,050

Town twinning activity including hosting a 3-yearly visit to
Leighton-Linslade (next visit postponed from 2020 to 2021)

£500
£34,962

Page 92

Page 93

Page 94

Page 95

Page 96

Page 97

Page 98

Page 99

Page 100

Page 101

Page 102

Page 103

Page 104

Page 105

Page 106

Page 107

Page 108

Page 109

Page 110

Page 111

Page 112

Page 113

Page 114

Page 115

Page 116

Page 117

Page 118

CHILDREN’S SERVICES
ANNUAL REPORT
April 2020– March 2021
Page 119

Executive Summary
The restrictions and isolation regulations put in place due to
the Covid-19 pandemic have been particularly challenging for
families with autistic members and the majority of those that
we support do not understand why their lives are being
impacted. They are struggling to cope with the social isolation
and changes to their normal daily routines / activities, which
they find extremely upsetting and many are suffering from
very high levels of anxiety and stress. More than ever, they
have needed access to specialist trained support to cope with
and get through this difficult time.
During the periods of lockdown, we had to cancel many of our
‘in person’ services for autistic people and their families in
order to reduce risks to our members and our staff. With the
help of emergency grant funding, our office staff have been
able to work from home in order to continue to provide vital
support by increasing and developing our phone, email, social
media and online services for autistic people in Bedfordshire.
They have the knowledge and expertise to work with these
vulnerable individuals and have been creative in ways to keep
them active and distracted from the current crisis and
uncertainty about the future.
Our objectives remain as they have always been, namely to:
• Reduce isolation and provide practical and emotional
support for autistic people and their families
• Improve confidence, self-esteem, communication, social
and life skills for autistic people.
• Reduce stress and improve coping abilities amongst parents
and carers
• Improve parent/carer knowledge about autism, which will
help them better support their autistic child and siblings.
We are tremendously proud of our team at Autism Bedfordshire, who continue to adapt our offer to meet
the significant demand for our services and support. Over the last year, we have facilitated and led more
sessions, through a blended offer of ‘in-person’ and online services, than ever in these unprecedented times
and we will continue to strive to prevent crisis and create new ways to serve and support autistic people
and their support networks across Bedfordshire and beyond.
Details of what we have achieved and the difference this has made to the lives of our members are outlined
in this report.
Page 120

HEADLINE FIGURES
202
autistic children
and young
people
supported

33
siblings
joined in the
fun

2,348
120
in-person
activity
sessions

939
sensory kits
and resources
sent out

hours of support
for autistic
children and
young people

14
parent
training
sessions

152
17
training
courses for
professionals

professionals
trained

102
hours of
training
delivered

Page 121

454
Helpline
contacts

108
online
activity
sessions

248
parents and
carers received
much needed
training

5
day parent
conference with
talks from
professionals and
subject specialists

SENSORY PLAY KITS
Thanks to funding from Bedfordshire
CCG, Bedford Borough, Luton Borough
and Central Bedfordshire Councils we
were able to provide Sensory Play Kits
to help support young people during
Covid-19.

758
“My son loved his
sensory pack.”

Sensory kits were sent out
between April 2020
and March 2021

“Brilliant idea during
lockdown.”

SOCIAL STORIES
We made Social Stories to help parents support their children during the
pandemic. Social stories are short descriptions of a particular situation,
event or activity, which include specific information about what to expect
in that situation and why. They can be themed around an individual’s
interests to make them more understandable and appealing.

33
Social Stories
were created
between April
and June

“Thank you so much for M’s Social Story.
She loves it. I honestly can’t thank you
enough for all the help, support and
contact over this difficult time.”

“It really made ‘going back to
school’ a little less bumpy
yesterday, so thank you!”

PERSONALISED RESOURCE PACKS
We produced personalised resources for families,
including activity packs, games and daily schedules.
Further resources are downloadable from our website.

148
packs have been sent out

Page 122

HELPLINE SERVICE
We have continued to operate our Helpline service by phone and
email, and introduced a new weekly evening texting service plus
bespoke 1:1 phone support for those most vulnerable and at risk.

454
Helpline contacts dealt with
between April 2020 to March 2021
“I honestly can't thank you enough for
all help, support and contact over this
difficult time. You have gone above
and beyond expectations and I'm so
grateful to you and all at Autism Beds.
Thank you.”

“Thank you so much for
your help today.
I could cry at how kind
and helpful you have
been”

255
hours of support given

SOCIAL MEDIA
161

We set up a Children's Services Covid-19
Support Group for parents and carers to
support each other and share ideas,
resources, and top tips. Our dedicated
Children’s Services team monitor the
group and answer any queries or signpost
to further support.

members
of our
Covid-19
support
group

“Thank you for continuing with your
efforts to make things more
manageable for families like mine, it is
much appreciated.”

753 Likes since
November 2020

Regrettably, in September 2020, we lost our
Facebook page, which had over 4,300 followers.
After a long three months of trying, we were finally
able to get a new Facebook page up and running.

472 followers

1,509 followers
Page 123

EVENING YOUTH CLUBS
‘WANTED FUN’
During the periods of lockdown, in place of our fortnightly face-to-face social groups for autistic
teenagers, we established weekly online chat room/Zoom sessions facilitated by our staff. Sessions
included quizzes, scavenger hunts, games, karaoke, escape rooms and competitions.

92
Zoom sessions
have been run

81
young people
enjoyed the
online sessions

226
“I just wanted to send a thank you to the team for keeping Wanted Fun
going through this craziness! S, and I’m sure everyone else, has really
enjoyed the Thursdays and looked forward to every session! Thank you all
for all the effort for the kids - it’s been absolutely brilliant!!!
You’re all superstars!!”

hours of support
were provided

After restrictions were eased, we were able to re-open our in-person
groups in the autumn term and again in March 2021, which was greatly
welcomed by our autistic young people and their families. We also ran
two bowling trips for our Central Bedfordshire groups.

25

67

419

in-person
sessions

young people
attended

hours of
support

Between January and March 2021, we launched an art course and a quiz course, both delivered via Zoom.

6

6

29

162

art
sessions

quiz
sessions

autistic young
people attended

hours of
support

Page 124

Family Support and Activity
Groups "Loads of Autistic Fun”
During the first lockdown, we had to cancel our face-to-face sessions of L.O.A.F. in order to reduce
risks to our members and our staff. In September, we were able to re-open our ‘Loads of Autistic Fun’
groups in Bedford and Luton, followed by our Biggleswade and Leighton Buzzard groups in October.
We restricted places to 6 - 8 families, depending on what the venue could accommodate within the
government safety regulations. To support as many families as possible, we split the normal 3-hour
sessions into two shorter sessions. We have continued to run sessions through to March 2021.
“L.O.A.F. has been such an amazing thing for L and us as a family.
L has gained so much confidence from going to L.O.A.F. and has started
attending other things now. He has just started at a Wednesday club and
a dance club at his school. We cannot believe he is able to access things
that he could not before. We have learnt a lot from L.O.A.F. about how
to make things more accessible to him and how to support him better.”

“It’s a very welcome break at
the weekend where my autistic
child is happy and I get to talk to
parents with similar challenges.”

46

75

81

33

sessions
were run

families

autistic
children

siblings

395

hours of support were provided

The activities are carefully planned and tailored to the abilities and
interests of the children and aim to help build their confidence and selfesteem, as well as developing their social, communication and life skills.
They have included arts and crafts, cooking/food preparation, sensory
activities, toys and games, and plenty of outdoor play.
“I’m not sure if the staff at
LOAF fully appreciate that
because of the time and
effort they give to our
children, an invaluable
support network has
developed amongst the
parents whereby we can
share support, ideas and
information with each
other - and for that we will
be eternally grateful.”

Page 125

“It is such a lovely group,
where my son can actually go
and feel free to play and be
himself without judgement this is priceless.”

SUMMER ACTIVITIES
Following the easing of restrictions, we were delighted to be able to run an adapted
programme of summer activities to support autistic children and young people and
provide short breaks for their families. All staff received additional Covid-19 and PPE
training and were provided with appropriate PPE equipment. Between 20th July and
7th August, 3 schemes ran in Bedford and 4 in Luton. Each scheme is specifically
designed to cater for the different needs, interests, ages and abilities of the children:
•
•
•

39
days of
activities

Junior Schemes: 1:1 support for autistic 3-9 year olds, including those with learning difficulties
Holiday Clubs: 1:1 support for autistic young people aged 10-17 with learning difficulties
Summer Fun: for 10-17 year olds with Asperger Syndrome or low support needs

80
autistic children and young
people were supported

..."he can go there & be himself, the staff just get him & are
incredibly approachable, genuinely caring and kind. This year
it has helped him no end with alleviating some of his anxieties
- he didn't leave the house for over 3 months during
lockdown and summer scheme has given him back some of
his confidence to leave the house again."

Whilst we couldn’t organise any trips out this year, we were able to
arrange some exciting visiting entertainment. For the younger children,
this included Ark Farm, Wycomb Pastures Petting Farm and Reptile
World. Onsite we provided Covid-safe individual personalised learning
boxes and activity areas, sensory play, giant outside games and film
projections. For the Summer Fun groups, we had Rubik’s Cube
workshops, Abacas Netball, Cricket East and a Macdonalds delivery!
Other activities included cooking, dance, quizzes, picnics, sports, films,
crafts, spaghetti & marshmallow challenge, orienteering and ping pong.

976
hours of short
breaks were
enjoyed by the
families

"You need to know that this is not just a summer scheme, it is a lifeline
for many families. The impact is far reaching and not always possible to
quantify. It seems like a short break but as parents, we can breathe for a
while for a few hours in each day we get, we don't have to worry about
that child. He is having fun and I am not on the edge expecting a phone
call to come and pick him up because he is with people who get him and
are not fazed
Page
126by him. You can't put a price on that."

FAMILY FARM DAYS
Later in the summer we ran 2 farm days at Animal Edge where families and their children could
spend 1½ hours in allotted timeslots, enjoying time with the animals. In October, we arranged a
another day out at the farm. In total, 31 families attended.

49

32

27

47

parents

autistic children

siblings

hours of support

“Thank you so much for organising the
trip to Animal Edge farm. My child really
enjoyed himself with the freedom of it not
being crowded and space to be away from
people when he needed a break. I got to
speak to a mum who was going through
similar things to myself and we have been
able to swap contact details to meet up."
"It was good, I liked that the chickens and ducks were walking around with us. I would love to go again."

SPORTING ACTIVITIES
In October, in partnership with the
Bedford Blues Foundation & Blues
Community, we organised an 8 week long
Rugby and Multisports course for autistic
young people aged 10 to 17 years. We
also organised a 6 week long tennis course
at the Riverside Tennis Club in Bedford.
The uptake for these sporting activities was very encouraging and, although both courses had to
be cut short due to the second lockdown, the young people who attended enjoyed the
opportunity of partaking in activities that were safe, uncrowded and autism-friendly.
In February 2021, we organised 4 online tennis sessions which 4 young people attended.

3
rugby
sessions

25

91

autistic young
people supported

hours of
support

8
tennis
sessions

" My son really enjoyed the experience - it was nice and quiet for him so nothing else to worry about."

Page 127

PARENT TRAINING
Our parent training resumed in the Autumn term, delivered via Zoom. We ran workshops on First
Steps to Supporting a Child with Autism Spectrum Conditions for parents of newly diagnosed or
undiagnosed children, and further autism training sessions covering Autism and Behaviour, Anxiety
and Behaviour, Demand Avoidance, Sensory Processing, Teenagers and Autism, and Women, Girls
and Autism. We offered morning and evening sessions where possible to allow as many
parents/carers as possible to benefit.

5
two hour workshops run

144

8

parents / carers
attended training

Autism training
sessions delivered

“I really felt she [the
trainer] understood
the challenges.”

“Thank you again for the great training
and for giving your time to help
parents like us, we really appreciate it.”

CHILDREN’S SERVICES ONLINE CONFERENCE
Following the success of our 2019 conference, we arranged a week-long online conference for parents
and carers across Bedfordshire. Talks and workshops were scheduled throughout the day between
23rd and 27th November, delivered by professionals, subject-specialist trainers and autistic adults.

“Thank you for organising
such a super conference week.
I was able to attend many of
the lectures/workshops - all of
which has increased my
knowledge of autism and
given me greater confidence.”

“Incredible insight – thank
you so much! My
daughters will benefit so
much from your story.”

Topics included:
• Mindfulness
• Impact of Covid on mental health
• Laughter therapy
• Social Communication
• Autism, Behaviour and Anxiety
• ASD assessments
• The Asperger world
• Sleep
• Autism and girls
• Pathological Demand Avoidance
• Parent Carer Forums & advice services
• Toilet training
• Understanding the SEN process
• Teen Brain matters
• Eating difficulties
• Wellbeing

132

22

parents
benefited
Page
128

hours of training

TRAINING FOR PROFESSIONALS
We offer training to professional practitioners, mainstream services, schools and community groups
to develop understanding of autism across Bedfordshire. During the first lockdown, we had to suspend
our courses but were able to restart them, and rebook previously commissioned training, in the
Autumn term. Between September 2020 and March 2021 we ran the following courses:
“I found it helpful that
Mandy discussed her
own experiences as well
as providing knowledge
and information about
topic.”

Autism & Sensory
Processing
A half day workshop
on the relationship
between autism and
sensory processing

Autism in the
Classroom
A two part course for
professionals working in a
school environment who
work with autistic children
of all ages on a regular
basis

Autism and
Demand
Avoidance
A half day workshop
on how to prevent and
manage demand
avoidant behaviour

Autism and
Mental Health

“Really informative and able to
take resources that I can use with
children and families I work with.”

A half day course on
the mental health
conditions often
experienced by
autistic people

Autism and
Behaviour
A half day course on
the impact of autism
in managing behaviour
and how to support
individuals of all ages

Autism, Women
& Girls
A half day workshop
about the differences
often found in the
‘female’ or ‘internalised’
presentation of autism

“I found that the examples
given and the explanations
were fantastic!”

14

3

152

in-person courses
delivered

online courses
delivered

professionals
trained

How delegates rated our training:

69% Excellent

29% Very Good 2% Good
Page 129

A FINAL WORD
Covid-19 has had a significant impact on our organisation in terms of both service provision and
income. The majority of our services are traditionally face-to-face, and we have had to adapt these in
order to continue to provide vital support to the autistic community during such uncertain times.
Our members, and others who had previously not reached out to us, are in need of emotional and
practical support more than ever and we are having to deal with an increased number of crisis
situations where we must provide remote interventions to prevent them escalating. For some
individuals, this involves regular phone calls or online meetings to check how well people are coping
and to provide some sort of constancy in their very disrupted routines.
Our guidance, support services and resources have been helping hundreds of people who are
struggling to get through each day, as evidenced by the feedback we have received. We are reaching
an exceptional number of people through these interventions and we desperately want to continue
to be there for those who need our support.
The emergency grant funding that we have secured has massively helped us to keep afloat during
these difficult times and we have managed to cover our costs this year. The future is still very
uncertain, but we have a robust and innovative senior team who are doing everything possible to
ensure that we not only get through this crisis but that we become stronger as a result of it. We have
developed online services that have reached new people and we will be able to continue these once
things start to return to normal. We have learned many lessons about how we can communicate with
the autistic community and will incorporate these into our services, going forwards.
We wholeheartedly thank all those who have supported us during this difficult time, whether that be
funders, venue providers, our technical support team, and those individuals and businesses who have
fundraised and donated to us – we could not have done it without you.

Thank You
Registered Charity No: 1100722
Suite B1, 1 Hammond Road, Elms Industrial Estate, Bedford, MK41 0UD
Tel: 01234 350704 (helpline) / 01234 214871 (general enquiries)
Email: enquiries@autismbeds.org
Website: www.autismbedfordshire.net

Page 130

Page 131

Community Interest Company number: 10609690

2020-21 RECAP
Page 132

Due to the covid 19 pandemic we were not able to run our activity days or support
groups or hold the creative therapy sessions we hoped to hold, so we have
ringfenced money allocated for that to provide more activity days this year.
We spent £150 or funding on activity packs at the beginning of the lockdown so
families could do activities at home instead. Feedback was this was extremely helpful
to the families that received one helping children relive anxiety when their whole
routine changed without warning.
At Christmas to make sure our families knew we were thinking of them we provided
gifts on request, pamper packs for mothers and sensory bags.
While we have ringfenced our 20-21 funding we have wanted our families to know we
are here so spending that small amount on activity packs enabled us to do that.

PLANS FOR 2021-22
As we roadmap out of this pandemic (as restriction allow)
We hope to hold our activity days throughout the summer holidays in the year. we would look to hold extra
sessions this year to make up for the lost ones, we also need to purchase new equipment including a
sensory den and more sensory equipment.
We are looking for restart our weekly support groups
Page 133

Using some of the ringfenced money we will look at holding smaller group creative therapy sessions and
for allocated funding for the year ahead we hope that we may be able to more of these sessions will help
for a wider age range (possibly our parent & careers too) to help ease the burden of the extra mental
health issues our families are facing.
With the extra time and support we want to provide we will also be looking for a more committed longterm rent so we can focus on the support Freddie and Friends can offer, we would like to provide more
day-time groups and after school opportunities.
Having the use of page park pavilion will enable more opportunities for our additional needs community
including the chance for work if we can open as a café in a support hub
There has never been a bigger need for better support for our additional needs community, having a
support hub will give people a safe place to enable more people to also access the wider community too.

Page 134

We would like to take this opportunity to that the town
council for its support in helping us make a difference to
our local community.

If any members would like more information on our project, please feel free to
contact us at freddiesunshinestop@gmail.com

Agenda Item 17

Mark Saccoccio
Town Clerk
Leighton Linslade Town Council

Our ref:
Date:

CBC/TC/01
26th April 2021

Dear Mr Saccoccio
Re: Welcome Back Fund
As our town centres gradually reopen, the Council is working very closely with both the Government
and local partners to safely welcome back our residents and businesses. To this end, the Council has
been allocated funding from the Government’s Welcome Back Fund, for the purpose of encouraging
shoppers and employees to return in a safe way, but also to ensure that economic activity returns as
quickly as possible.
The Council is very keen to work with you on developing projects and activities that contribute to this
aim. We are able to allocate WBF funding towards this purpose, should you wish to participate in this
programme. The WBF funding is part of a legacy European Regional Development Fund (ERDF)
scheme, for which the Council is the accountable body. The funding is intended for specific activities
towards the safe opening of High Streets and town centres, as approved by the Government.
The WBF funding allocation has been determined based on precept levels and also the Local Plan
designation for your town centre, so as to ensure funding is at a level appropriate to the size of the
town centre and the challenges faced. A total of £59,000 has been allocated to Leighton Linslade
Town Council towards the cost of eligible activities during the current financial year. A Service Level
Agreement will be required, which recognises Leighton Linslade Town Council as a Delivery Partner
to the Council. Any expenditure incurred by the Town Council, will be reclaimed from the Council on
a defrayed basis.
I appreciate that managing grant funding such as this can be a complicated process, however, we
will endeavour to simplify this as much as possible. Attached to this letter, you will find a form for
setting out proposed activities, which we will use to confirm eligibility. This document will act as your
Delivery Plan and will also form the basis for your Service Level Agreement.
The Government has issued a set of frequently asked questions (FAQ’s) which can be viewed here:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/98
0130/Welcome_Back_Fund_FAQs.pdf. Further guidance regarding the Fund generally can be
located at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/welcome-back-fund.
In order to ensure we can start delivering schemes as quickly as possible, whilst recognising you will
require sufficient time to consult with TC members, please submit your proposed Delivery Plan by
Friday 28th May, by email to Sam Caldbeck samuel.caldbeck@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk. If you do
not wish to utilise your allocation, please advise Sam as soon as possible and by Friday 28th May at
the latest. Sam, (tel: 0300 300 4410) is a member of the Place Delivery team at the Council and is
available to assist you in the preparation of your Delivery Plan and any other queries you may have.
Yours sincerely

Councillor Kevin Collins
Executive Member for Planning & Regeneration

Page 135

Cc Ward Member’s

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 136

Welcome Back Fund
Please complete as fully as possible and submit via email to
samuel.caldbeck@centralbedfordshire.gov.uk by Friday 28th May 2021.

Page 137

For guidance on activities, please refer to the FAQ’s and
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/welcome-back-fund

Town Council Name

Name of Lead Contact
Telephone Number
Email Address
Name of Deputy Contact
Telephone Number
Email Address

1
WBF Activity Form V1

1. Proposed Activity
Please complete the table below to reflect the activities you propose to use the WBF for.

No.

Area of Scope

Page 138

1

Support to develop an action plan
for how the local authority may
begin to safely reopen their local
economies.

2

Communications and public
information activity to ensure that
reopening of local economies can
be managed successfully and
safely

3

Business-facing awareness raising
activities to ensure that reopening
of local economies can be
managed successfully and safely.

4

Temporary public realm changes
to ensure that reopening of local
economies can be managed
successfully and safely.

Using bullet points briefly set out the specific
activities you will undertake

2
WBF Activity Form V1

Briefly set out how the activity does
not duplicate existing activity
(additionality)

Total
Indicative
Budget £ per
item
Gross

5

6

Support and promote a safe
public environment for a local
area’s visitor economy
Support local authorities to
develop plans for responding to
the medium-term impact of CV-19
including trialling new ideas
particularly where these relate to
the High Street.

Page 139

Locations of activity to be covered by WBF.
Please list the locations that you intend to support with this activity and give details of which strand of activity will be implemented at each
location. Insert more rows if required.
Type
High Street / Neighbourhood Shopping Area

Name of location

3
WBF Activity Form V1

Postcode(s)

2. Procurement
Please provide details of all the procurements you have and/or will undertake in relation to WBF eligible expenditure.
It remains the responsibility of the Local Authority and relevant Delivery Partner(s) to ensure all procurements are compliant with ERDF
Procurement Requirements. Below are the thresholds that you should adhere to:

Page 140

Value of contract

Minimum Procedure

Advertising Required

£0 - £2,499

Direct award

None

£2,500 - £24,999

3 written quotes or prices sought from relevant suppliers of None
goods, works and services

£25,000 – Relevant Public Contracts
Regulations threshold

Formal tender process in line with the Interpretative
Communication and the relevant guidance set out below

4
WBF Activity Form V1

1) Advertised on Contracts Finder
and
2) the opportunity is advertised on the ESIF grant
recipient’s website for a reasonable time period.

Agenda Item 18

Policy & Finance Committee
Date:

4 May 2021

Title:

Financial Banking Arrangements.

Purpose of the Report:

To consider operational arrangements
regarding day to day banking.

Contact Officer:

Clare Cummins, Finance Officer

Corporate Objective/s
Implications:
Financial
&
Operational/Service
Delivery
Human Resources
Procedural/Legal
1.

√

To maximise the return on
monies whilst not
compromising the Town
Council’s ability to continue to
function.

X
X

RECOMMENDATIONS

Should members be minded, the proposals are:
a.

To transfer the annual precept (which is paid in two instalments, first in
April 2021 and second in September 2021) from the NatWest Business
Reserve Account to the existing Nationwide Instant Access Saver
Account currently paying 0.05% as shown in Table 1.

b.

To endorse that funds be drawn down from the Nationwide Instant Access
Saver Account and transferred to the NatWest Business Reserve Account
to fund the Monthly expenditure, as and when required throughout the
year.

c.

That the arrangements above be reviewed upon receipt of the first tranche
of the precept for 2022/23.

2.

INVESTMENT OF PRECEPT

2.1

The annual precept for 2021/22 is £2,271,388 which is paid in two instalments,
the first payment was in April and second is in September.

2.2

The precept is paid directly by Central Bedfordshire Council into the Town
Council’s NatWest Business Reserve Account, which is currently paying 0.01%
interest.

Page 141

2.3

We are unable to move the precept into a Long-Term Deposit Account as the
majority is used to pay the council’s running costs for the year.

2.4

Therefore, to gain a better rate of interest on the bulk of the precept whilst
ensuring funds remain easily accessible, it should be transferred to another
suitable account.

2.5

Options currently available to move the precept are as outlined in Table 1 below
as quoted 27 April 2021:
Table 1
BANK
NatWest

Santander

Nationwide

TYPE OF
ACCOUNT
Business
Reserve

TERM

Instant
Access

Instant Access

Instant Access
Saver

Instant Access

INTEREST
RATE

Instant Access
0.01%

COMMENTS
Precept paid in
by CBC.

0.01%

0.05%

Existing
account.

3.

OPERATIONAL BANKING ARRANGEMENTS

3.1

To ensure funds are available to meet anticipated expenditure, funds are
transferred throughout the year from the Nationwide Instant Access Saver
account to the NatWest Business Reserve account.

3.2

All account balances are shown on the regular Cash and Investment
Reconciliation report.

3.3

The Council is asked to endorse that this procedure continues, to ensure that
sufficient funds are available in the NatWest accounts for short term anticipated
expenditure.

Page 142
Page 2 of 2

By virtue of the Public Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960 s1 (2)

Document is Restricted

Page 143

Agenda Item 20

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of the Public Bodies (Admission to Meetings) Act 1960 s1 (2)

Document is Restricted

Page 145

This page is intentionally left blank

